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SALES

$137.6M
(down 0.6%)

PRO FORMA EBIT

$16.5M
(down 37.6%)

ONLINE SALES

$7.5M
(5.4% of total sales)

NET CASH  
AT YEAR END

$16.0M

Performance highlights
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DUSK REWARDS

735,000
active members

PRO FORMA  
GROSS MARGIN

64.1%
(down 160 basis points)

FULL YEAR DIVIDENDS

11.0c
(fully franked)

TOTAL STORES

145
(net increase of  
13 stores including 
expansion into NZ)
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Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to present the 2023 Annual Report of Dusk Group 
Limited, our third as a listed company. 

The FY23 result reflected the challenging trading conditions in 
which higher interest rates and mounting cost of living pressures 
impacted the disposable income of our core customer. Despite 
this, we remained focused on executing our customer-centric 
strategies and leveraging our core competencies. 

FY23 Financial Result
Total revenue was $137.6 million, statutory EBIT was $16.6 million 
and statutory NPAT was $11.6 million.

Total sales were marginally lower than FY22 and 36.5% higher 
when compared to FY20. Foot traffic outside our stores 
was 10.2% lower than FY22 but partly offset by higher sales 
conversion when customers were in store. 

New stores continued to perform well highlighting our track 
record of disciplined store rollout. We opened nine new stores 
in the first half of FY23 to maximise trading in the Christmas 
period and a further five stores in the second half. The new store 
openings included three stores plus online as part of a trial in 
New Zealand (NZ), our first international market. The results 
in NZ have been in line with expectations and further rollout 
opportunities will be evaluated once the economic outlook in 
that market improves. In Australia, there was one store closure in 
FY23. Despite the macro-economic headwinds, we will continue 
to invest in stores in outer suburban and regional areas where 
the returns on investment are attractive. Six new stores are 
expected to be opened in Australia in the first half of FY24. 

In FY23, three stores were upgraded to our Glow 2.0 format 
which delivered an increase in sales from a combination 
of enhanced floor space utilisation and the addition of an 
expanded health and wellbeing offering. There are twenty four 
stores remaining in our legacy fit out. We will continue to look for 
opportunities to convert our older stores either at lease expiry 
or in cooperation with our landlords where it makes economic 
sense to do so.

Our customer’s preferred shopping methods continued to 
normalise in FY23 as we cycled government-mandated store 
closures in the first half of FY22. Despite this, the online result 
was below our expectations with online delivering 5.4% of 
total sales. We continue to invest in our online capabilities with 
a replatforming and redesign of our website underway and 
expected to be completed in 2H FY24. Click & Collect will be 
introduced in 1H FY24 ahead of the key Christmas period. Click & 
Despatch (ship from store) is now operational in ten stores with 
a further rollout planned. This provides our customers with faster 
delivery and lowers our pick, pack and delivery costs. These 
online initiatives are expected to unlock growth and deliver an 
improved customer experience. 

dusk Rewards, our paid loyalty program, remains the engine 
of our business. At the end of FY23, we had over 735,000 
active members who accounted for 62% of total sales and 
spent an average of $57 per transaction. For the first time in 
six years, we took the decision to increase the joining fee for 
the 2-year membership from $10 to $15, effective 1 July 2023. 
At the same time, we increased the value of the voucher that 
members receive on sign-up from $10 to $15. We continue to 
tailor offerings based on insights obtained from our members’ 
purchasing patterns and behaviours. Our ongoing store rollout 
will further boost membership as we enter new catchments, 
extending the program’s footprint and strategic importance to 
our business. 

The gross margin rate of 64.1% was 160 basis points lower than 
FY22 due primarily to a weaker Australian dollar versus the 
US dollar, some mix shift between product categories and a 
small increase in promotional discounting and clearance activity 
to keep inventory levels balanced and fresh. We will continue 
to work closely with our suppliers to minimise COGS increases 
and focus on disciplined promotional activity and price point 
management to maximise gross margin dollars.

After three years of COVID-19 impacts, the cost of doing 
business (CODB) in FY23 reflected a more typical year. CODB 
in FY22 was approximately $2.5 million lower than normal as 
teams were stood down during periods of prolonged store 
closures. Adjusting for this, CODB was up 6.6% in FY23 with 
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the increase driven by new stores, increased wage rates and 
elevated inflation. At the end of FY23, we executed a $2.0 million 
CODB reduction program across store labour, logistics and 
head office to assist in mitigating the financial impact of the 
current soft trading environment. 

The Company finished FY23 with a strong balance sheet and 
solid cash conversion of earnings. Net cash at year end was 
$16.0 million with no debt. The inventory position of $15.2 million 
was clean and well balanced and slightly below FY22, despite 
the net addition of thirteen new stores across Australia and NZ. 
In FY23, the Board declared fully franked dividends of 11 cents 
per share including a final dividend of 3 cents per share. This 
represented a dividend payout ratio of 59%. 

CEO Transition 
FY23 also saw transition at the CEO level. In January 2023, we 
announced the resignation of our CEO and Managing Director 
Peter King after almost nine years in the position. I would like to 
acknowledge and thank Peter for the invaluable contribution 
he made to the Company. We wish him all the best in his future 
endeavours.

In April 2023, we were pleased to announce the appointment 
of Vlad Yakubson as our new CEO and Managing Director. Vlad 
is a dynamic and well-regarded retailer with a proven track 
record of delivering excellent results. He has over 25 years’ 
experience across diverse product categories and a strong 
commitment to the creation of customer-centric and product 
led brands. The Board and I look forward to working with him 
to drive the next phase of dusk’s growth when he joins the 
Company on 9 October 2023. 

In early July 2023, I stepped into the role of Executive Chair 
to ensure a smooth handover ahead of Peter’s departure. 
Although I have been Chair since September 2016, the months 
spent in the Interim CEO role have reinforced what I have 
long viewed as the strengths of our business which includes a 
proactive and experienced leadership team, our flat hierarchy 
which enables us to respond rapidly to changing market 
conditions and our lean vertical operating model. I will revert to 
Non-executive Chair in mid-October 2023 when Vlad joins dusk 
after a period of handover. 

Strategic Priorities
The Board and management continue to focus on our strategic 
priorities. We closely monitor the challenging economic 
conditions and its effect on our store portfolio and where 
necessary, will make tough decisions on underperforming 
stores. We will accelerate the launch of a range of exciting 
product led initiatives and innovations that will come to 
market over the next 12 months. This follows successful product 
collaborations in FY23 and the recent trial of a personal 
fragrance range which has proven popular. We are also in 
the early stages of exploring opportunities to expand our 
distribution network beyond our store and online channels. 
These initiatives coupled with a replatformed and redesigned 
website and new leadership are central to our expectations of 
improved trading as FY24 progresses. 

Our Outstanding Team
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all our team 
members for their continued hard work and dedication to our 
business. Our people remain critical to dusk’s success. 

I would also like to thank our board of directors for their counsel 
and guidance during another volatile year. 

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the ongoing support 
provided by our Shareholders. We believe we have the right 
strategies in place to deliver strong long term returns for the 
benefit of all shareholders. 

John Joyce
Executive Chair
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Corporate social 
responsibility

GATHER MY CREW 

Gather My Crew is an Australian 
charity helping people to help people.

dusk has proudly supported 
Gather My Crew since 2017.

What we do
Gather My Crew normalises support and makes it easier to ask for, offer and 
coordinate help through our free app, resources, and community.

Our Gather My Crew app enables friends and family to build support networks 
that provide the right help, at the right time to people in need. It is an easy and 
powerful way to coordinate meaningful help. 

Our resources provide advice, information and stories to support people every 
day, and in times of crisis, to change the way they ask for, offer and accept help.

Launched in 2017, Gather My Crew’s tools and resources empower all of us to 
become ‘changemakers’ – the kind of people who gather around those in need 
to offer care, connection and support.

2,597
support crews created

19,300
people provided support

67,639
tasks created

46,777
people have accessed our 
help tools and resources
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Why we exist – Sam’s story
My husband, Richie, and I lived in the suburbs of Melbourne 
with our three kids. 

Richie was a fit and healthy man. He played hockey, cycled 
regularly and, in his younger years, he ran. He didn’t smoke. 

When he was 47, Richie was diagnosed with a rare kind of 
cancer. The oncologist told us that, with treatment, Richie might 
expect to live several years. I was 40. Our kids were 11, 9 and 4. 

For about six weeks, we were in limbo while the doctors decided 
how best to treat Richie. 

It was a time of great uncertainty, and I rang the Cancer Council 
for help. The nurse there suggested I set up a Gather My Crew 
account. She told me that people would quickly mobilise to help 
us and the first thing they would think of was meals. Gather My 
Crew would enable us to say what kind of help we needed and 
when we needed it. Richie and I set up an account. 

Richie’s cancer diagnosis was hard for us. Within six months, the 
prognosis had shorted to “six months to two years”. We knew he 
was going to die. This was hard for us, but it was also hard for 
everyone around us. They were sad for us. I think they could also 
see that it could have been any one of them in Richie’s position. 
They wanted to help because it eased their own sadness and 
sense of powerlessness and fragility. 

We used the Gather My Crew app to ask for help. I used it as 
a catalyst to think about what I could farm out to other people. 
We used it to ask for meals when we were low but also to ask 
people not to deliver unsolicited meals if our freezer was full. 

We scheduled for people to do our washing, brush the dog, 
and take Richie to chemo treatment. As the cancer progressed 
and riddled his bones, Richie became prone to falling. I used 
Gather Mr Crew to schedule people to come and sit with him, 
so he wasn’t home alone when I went out. These visits and 
accompanying him at chemo became precious time that Richie 
spent with friends and family. 

Richie was a great communicator. He understood that good 
communication gives rise to strong human relationships. For two 
years, we used Gather My Crew to send out regular updates to 
friends and family about Richie’s state of health, his treatment 
and how we were going as a family. This kept people in the loop 
and gave them insight into when we might need a little more 
help than usual. One of the last updates I sent out was to tell 
people that Richie had died. 

Richie’s illness was devastating for all of us. The very hardest 
thing was watching him deteriorate, inching closer and closer 
to death. But in among the sadness were threads of light and 
joy. The biggest one was the strength of the community that 
revealed itself around us as things got harder. Neighbours, 
friends, family, work colleagues, school contacts – they all came 
out of the woodwork and stepped up to provide sympathy 
and help. For me, this was the most incredible consolation: the 
power of human community. 

Gather My Crew helped us make the most of that community. 
But it also helped us strengthen that community in our own way. 
By giving our updates, thinking about how we could get people 
to help us and asking for help, we gave something back to that 
community too. One of the most powerful things you can do in 
a time of crisis is to understand the support that comes from the 
humans around you. 

dusk and Gather My Crew 
dusk has proudly been supporting Gather My Crew since 2017 with regular Mothers’ Day 
and Christmas promotions that have included instore marketing materials to spread the 
word about Gather My Crew to dusk customers. 
Over the past year, with the ongoing support of dusk, Gather My Crew has expanded 
the reach of our Gather My Crew app and continued to grow our Help Literacy 
resources to support all Australians to ask for, offer and accept help. 
Gather My Crew is incredibly grateful for the partnership with dusk, which the 
community describe as ‘lifesaving.’
If you would like to learn more about the work of Gather My Crew and how dusk 
has helped to change the ways Australians ask for and offer help, check out our  
website - www.gathermycrew.org.au 
or email - hello@gathermycrew.org.

Annual Report 2023 7



Corporate 
Governance 
Statement

dusk has followed the recommendations of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council’s Principle and Recommendations 
(4th Edition) (except where noted) during the reporting period. 
Further details are set out in the Group’s Appendix 4G and 
Corporate Governance Statement, authorised for issue by 
the Directors on 28 September 2023, which are available 
to be viewed on the Group’s investor relations website at 
www.investors.dusk.com.au.
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The Directors present their report, together with the consolidated financial statements on Dusk Group Limited and its controlled 
entities (referred to hereafter as ‘dusk’, ‘the Group’ or ‘the Company’) for the 52 weeks ended 2 July 2023 (‘FY23’ or ‘2023’).

The Group utilises a 52-week retail calendar year for financial reporting purposes, which ended on 2 July 2023. The prior year was a 
53-week retail calendar year, which ended on 3 July 2022 (‘FY22’ or ‘2022’).

Directors
The names of the Company’s Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are set out below. Directors 
were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Names Position

John Joyce Independent Chair, Non-Executive Director 
Executive Chair (appointed 3 July 2023)

Trent Peterson Non-Executive Director

David MacLean Non-Executive Director (Independent)

Tracy Mellor Non-Executive Director (Independent)

Katherine Ostin Non-Executive Director (Independent)

Peter King (resigned 19 July 2023) Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer

As announced on 25 January 2023, CEO and Managing Director Peter King advised the Company of his intention to step down after 
serving his six months’ notice period. As an interim step, announced on 19 June 2023, dusk Chair John Joyce was appointed Executive 
Chair effective 3 July 2023 to take on the CEO responsibilities until incoming CEO and Managing Director Vlad Yakubson joins the 
Company, which is scheduled for 9 October 2023.

Principal activities and significant changes in nature of activities
The principal activities of the Group for the year ended 2 July 2023 comprised of retailing of scented and unscented candles, home 
decor, home fragrance and gift solutions.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the financial year.

Dividends
A final dividend on ordinary shares in respect of the 2022 financial year was declared on 1 September 2022. The dividend was 
paid on 27 September 2022. The total amount of the dividend was $6.23 million and represented a fully franked dividend of 10.0 cents 
per share.

An interim dividend on ordinary shares in respect of the 2023 financial year was declared on 23 February 2023. The dividend was 
paid on 28 March 2023. The total amount of the dividend was $4.98 million which represented a fully franked dividend of 8.0 cents 
per share.

A final dividend on ordinary shares in respect of the 2023 financial year was declared on 29 August 2023. The dividend will be paid 
on 28 September 2023. The total amount of the dividend will be $1.87 million and represents a fully franked dividend of 3.0 cents 
per share.

2023 operational and financial review
The net profit after tax (NPAT) of the Group for the year ended 2 July 2023 was $11.6 million (3 July 2022: $18.5 million).

The Directors’ Report includes references to pro forma results. The pro forma results have been derived from dusk’s statutory 
accounts and adjusted to a pro forma basis to reflect the ongoing operations of dusk more appropriately, and its balance sheet 
and capital structure. The impact of AASB16 lease accounting is also excluded. The Directors believe the presentation of non-IFRS 
financial measures are useful for the users of this financial report as they provide additional and relevant information that reflect the 
underlying financial performance of the business. Non-IFRS measures contained within this report are not subject to audit. Other 
companies may calculate such measures in a different manner to the Group.

Directors’ report
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Pro forma earnings before interest and tax (‘EBIT’) was $16.5 million for the year ended 2 July 2023 which is reconciled to statutory 
EBIT as follows (with comparatives):

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

Statutory profit before income tax 16,614 26,482

Add/(deduct):

Finance costs 1,781 1,487

Finance income (378) –

Statutory EBIT 18,017 27,969

Add/(deduct) the following items:

Impact of AASB 16i (1,506) (1,044)

NSW JobSaver receiptsii – (1,050)

Rental concessions receivediii (291) (445)

Acquisition costsiv – 1,057

NZ set up costsv 317 –

Pro forma EBIT 16,537 26,487

i.	 Adjustment is reflective of management measuring and reviewing company performance prior to any AASB 16 adjustments.
ii.	 NSW JobSaver receipts reflect the removal of the non-recurring benefit to earnings of the JobSaver payment received from the New South Wales Government.
iii.	 As an impact of COVID-19, the Group has negotiated with some of its landlords to achieve rent concessions. The rent concessions reflect credits received from landlords on contracted 

lease costs under the practical expedients of AASB 16 Leases.
iv.	 The Group incurred certain non-recurring transaction costs and similar items for the acquisition of Eroma Group that did not proceed.
v.	 The Group incurred certain non-recurring set up costs for entry into the New Zealand market.

Operating and financial review

Results summary
The FY23 financial results reflected the challenging trading conditions in a year where higher interest rates and mounting cost of 
living pressures increasingly impacted the net disposable income of our core customer.

Total revenue was $137.6 million, pro forma EBIT was $16.5 million and pro forma NPAT was $11.7 million.

Total sales were 0.6% lower, and total LFL sales were 13.2% lower. Store LFL sales were 11.1% lower and online 35.2% lower to $7.5 million. 
The online channel represented 5.4% of total sales in FY23.

Average Transaction Value (ATV) at $51 was 5.7% lower than FY22. This decrease was driven by a shift away from higher price point 
products and less items purchased per transaction.

dusk Rewards, the membership program, signed up or renewed 393,000 members in FY23, an increase of 9.8%. dusk Rewards 
members contributed 62% of total sales value and accounted for 55% of transactions in FY23. dusk Rewards members continue to 
spend more, and shop more often, than non-members. This program is an important part of our value proposition for customers, is 
our most important marketing channel, and provides us with valuable and unique customer insights. The strategic importance of this 
program continues to grow for the business.

Ten new stores were opened in Australia during FY23: Bundaberg (QLD), Rosebud (VIC), Victoria Point (QLD), Warrnambool (VIC), 
Gungahlin (ACT), Tamworth (NSW), Raymond Terrace (NSW), Mount Druitt (NSW), Eaton (WA) and Mirrabooka (WA). Three stores 
were also upgraded to the latest store format. One store was closed in NSW.

The Company also entered its first international market with a three store trial, plus website in New Zealand (NZ). 

Pro forma gross profit decreased by 3.0% to $88.2 million. The gross margin rate decreased 160 basis points to 64.1% due primarily to 
a weaker Australian dollar versus the US dollar, some mix shift between product categories, and a small increase in promotional and 
clearance activity.
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Directors’ report continued

Cost of doing business (CODB) increased 11.0% from $61.1 million in FY22 to $67.8 million in FY23. This increase was driven by new 
stores, increased wage rates and elevated inflation.

Pro forma EBIT decreased by 37.6% to $16.5 million and pro forma NPAT decreased 36.6% to $11.7 million.

Capital management
Net cash closed the year at $16.0 million with no drawn debt. All bank covenants were complied with and there remains significant 
headroom.

Inventory closed the year broadly in line with plan and includes a significant weighting in high turn core products in the Candle and 
Home Fragrance product categories.

Strategic update
The Company believes its existing strategies remain appropriate and that its performance both operationally and financially in FY23 
despite numerous challenges are evidence of this. The Company continues to focus on the importance of building operational agility 
given the likelihood of continued volatility in market and operational conditions. The Company will continue to pursue its vertically 
integrated model which it believes will deliver significant growth in shareholder value over long term.

Set out below are the key drivers of this expected growth:

A proven, resilient and agile business model
dusk’s competitive advantage emanates from its ‘vertical’ business model which combines internal product design and development, 
brand ownership, third‑party manufacturing and logistics arrangements, and ownership and operation of its channels to market 
(i.e. physical stores and website). dusk is the largest specialty retailer in the Home Fragrance segment in Australia.

dusk does not wholesale its products to other retailers for on-sale, or retail its products on third‑party platforms (e.g. Amazon). 
Management believes dusk’s vertical model enables it to provide customers with superior value for money, consistent quality, 
knowledgeable staff in store, product newness that excites, fragrances they know and love, and product specifically developed for 
the preferences of the dusk customer.

dusk Rewards
The dusk Rewards program is the centrepiece of dusk’s marketing activities and promotional events; and dusk is continuously refining 
how this member database is used and segmented to grow customer shopping frequency and loyalty to the brand. The program 
has a large and loyal membership base of over 735,000 paid-up current members. Members are more highly engaged – they shop 
more often and spend more each transaction than non‑members (accounting for 62% of total sales), and are more likely to shop 
across all channels.

Store rollout and upgrades in Australia
Although dusk has a strong national presence, it believes there is still significant room for further expansion in the domestic market.

dusk upgraded three stores in FY23 to the new store fit out model, with 24 stores yet to be upgraded. The store redesign and refit 
began in 2014 replacing the original ‘legacy’ stores with the original ‘Glow’ design and has since transitioned to the ‘Glow 2’ format.

Stores provide a valued and trusted engagement point with our customers. Our experienced, customer‑friendly store team can 
create and inspire a customer’s vision, deliver a personalised and tailored experience, and increase sales conversion and loyalty.

All Australian stores are profitable and attractive new store opportunities remain. The cohort of stores opened in recent years are 
performing well (when open and trading) and contributing to growth.

Online sales
The performance of online in FY23 was below expectations. Click & Collect will be introduced and is expected to go live prior to the 
key gifting season in FY24. The website will also be replatformed and redesigned in 2H FY24. These initiatives are expected to unlock 
growth and offer an improved customer experience.
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Continued product innovation and product improvement
dusk regards consistent product innovation and continuous product improvement as a core competency and has developed 
capabilities and processes to support this strategy.

The segments of the Home Fragrance Market where innovation is fastest and most significant are the ultrasonic diffuser segment 
and product areas with potential wellness appeal (e.g. essential oils). dusk is a market leader in the growing market for Diffusers and 
other Home Fragrance Products in Australia (which includes the sale of related essential oils).

dusk believes innovation will continue to drive its growth and is necessary to maintain market leadership.

Due to dusk’s market position and vertical retail model, Management believes the Company is well placed to be a pioneer and 
market leader in the sale of cannabidiol (‘CBD’) related essential oils, should regulatory changes allow for the sale of such products. 
dusk has a supply arrangement with US based Plant Therapy, allowing dusk to stock and sell Plant Therapy essential oils in Australia. 
Through this partnership, dusk is establishing a supply chain with a producer of CBD related essential oils. The use of CBD oil in and 
with home fragrance products is well-established in other markets. dusk is monitoring this market and plans to be an early mover in 
offering a range of CBD related products in the Australian market if and when the necessary regulatory changes permit.

International expansion
dusk continues to explore opportunities to expand into international markets through both physical store roll‑out and the launch 
of a website which can readily accommodate sales outside Australia. The Company launched in NZ in 1H FY23 with a website and 
three stores as an initial trial. If successful, dusk sees the capacity to ultimately open materially more stores in NZ over the long term. 
dusk sees NZ as a territory in which to learn lessons and refine processes for deploying and managing a business in an international 
market. This is an important precursor to a launch in a larger and more geographically distant international market.

Given the uniqueness of the dusk vertical retail model and the absence of a similar concept in a range of large international markets, 
management believes there may be store roll‑out opportunities in other markets that exhibit similar characteristics to those of the 
Australian market ‑ namely English speaking, ‘house proud and gift inclined customers’, similar fragrance palette, with acceptable 
operational dynamics and risks. These opportunities are in phase of ‘preliminary assessment’ and are not expected to be initiated in 
the near term.

Any international opportunities will be assessed with a ‘test and learn’ methodology and a disciplined approach to risk management 
and capital allocation.

Key business risks
There are a number of key risks both specific to dusk and of a general nature, which may either individually or in combination 
materially and adversely affect the future operating and financial performance of the Company. They include:

The Australian and/or NZ retail environment and general economic conditions may deteriorate
dusk’s performance is sensitive to the current state of and future changes in the retail environment and general economic conditions 
in Australia and NZ, and more specifically those that impact consumer demand for homewares and related home fragrance 
products. If Australian and/or NZ economic conditions worsen, there is a risk that the retail environment will deteriorate as consumers 
reduce their level of consumption or redirect their spending to cheaper products or discount stores. A reduction in consumer spending 
or a change in spending patterns which is adverse to dusk is likely to result in a reduction in revenue and may have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s future financial performance and financial position.

dusk’s performance can also be adversely affected by trading disruptions that require prolonged period of store closures. A specific 
example of this was the prolonged store closures in a number of the company’s key markets on the Eastern Seaboard of Australia 
due to COVID-19 in FY21 and FY22. The duration, breadth and specific timing and conditions of any store closures could have a 
materially adverse effect on the company’s supply chain staffing and operations in a manner that could cause deterioration to the 
performance or prospects of the business.

Customer buying habits or seasonal trading patterns may change
dusk’s products are discretionary goods, and consumer demand for these products is driven by home decoration and styling trends, 
along with the broader wellbeing trend, particularly in respect of dusk’s ultrasonic diffuser products, and these trends are beyond the 
control of dusk.
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Directors’ report continued

While dusk’s product development team aims to monitor and respond to the latest consumer trends, a failure to accurately judge the 
change in consumer preferences, or a delay in the introduction of new innovative products in response to changing customer buying 
habits, may have an adverse impact on demand for dusk’s products, or the margins dusk achieves on these products.

Any series of significant misjudgements in predicting product trends could adversely affect demand for dusk’s products, which may 
impact dusk’s revenues, and in the longer term may adversely impact dusk’s brand.

dusk’s sales have historically been subject to seasonal patterns, with a disproportionate amount of annual sales being generated 
over the Christmas trading period, and to a lesser extent Mother’s Day. An unexpected decrease in sales over those traditionally 
high‑volume trading periods may impact dusk’s revenue during the relevant period, and could also result in abnormally large 
amounts of surplus inventory, which dusk would typically seek to sell before it becomes too old or obsolete. Sale of out of season or 
old stock, would be affected through higher discounting, which is likely to reduce dusk’s revenue and earnings, and in turn adversely 
affect its financial performance.

Competition may increase and change
The Australian and NZ retail industry in which dusk operates is competitive and is subject to changing customer preferences.

dusk faces competition from homewares and specialty retailers, department stores, discount department stores, supermarkets 
and independent retailers (such as pharmacies and boutique specialty retailers), as well as online only retailers. Shifts in spending 
patterns also highlights that dusk competes generally for customers discretionary spending capacity. Competition is based on a 
variety of factors including merchandise range, quality, price, advertising (including SEO and SEM), store location, store presentation, 
product presentation and customer service.

dusk’s competitive position may deteriorate as a result of factors including actions by existing competitors, the entry of new 
competitors or a failure by dusk to successfully maintain its position as the retail environment changes. Any deterioration in dusk’s 
competitive position may result in a loss of market share and a decline in revenue and earnings.

dusk may experience supply chain disruption
dusk does not manufacture the products which it sells, and currently has relatively informal supply arrangements manufacturers 
of candles, diffusers, and other related products. dusk sources the majority of its products from five suppliers, representing 75% of 
purchases in FY23.

dusk’s reliance on third party suppliers for the products it sells, exposes it to risks relating to the actions or operations of those 
suppliers. For example, dusk is exposed to potential risks relating to the quality of goods supplied to it, or increases in the cost of 
materials and cost of manufacturing. dusk’s relationships with its suppliers may deteriorate or international tensions or restrictions 
may have an impact on trade between dusk and its suppliers. Supply arrangements may also be terminated or discontinued (which 
may occur at short notice). There may also be potential delays in sourcing new products or disruptions in identifying and engaging 
alternative suppliers. Given the majority of its suppliers are located outside Australia (predominantly in China), dusk is also subject to 
foreign exchange risks.

Furthermore, dusk relies on the timely supply of products and services (e.g. production, freight and warehousing services) from its 
suppliers. In the event that there are delays or failures in providing products or services to dusk, this may impact dusk’s operations 
and results. This may occur, for example, where dusk’s suppliers are unable to adequately respond to increased demand for their 
products or services during seasons (e.g. Christmas) where dusk’s sales are substantially higher than normal, and any failure 
of suppliers to adequately service dusk’s needs during those periods may have a significant adverse impact on dusk’s financial 
performance. While this may occur through the actions of the supplier itself, it may also occur if the operations of a significant supplier 
to dusk are disrupted due to factors outside its control including fire, labour disputes, weather events, regulation and actions of 
government authorities, or other similar events or circumstances.

dusk may lose key management personnel
dusk is a leader in the retail Home Fragrance Market. There are relatively few companies in Australia and NZ operating in the 
Home Fragrance Market, and no others doing so at the scale of dusk. dusk’s success depends to a significant extent on its key 
personnel, in particular Management that have driven the growth in operations, earnings and financial performance and position 
of the Company. These individuals have extensive experience in, and knowledge of, the Australian and NZ retail industry and dusk’s 
business along with relationships with dusk’s key landlords and suppliers (including the businesses from which dusk sources its 
products and the fragrance houses from which its fragrances are sourced). The loss of key personnel, particularly if there is any 
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inability to recruit or retain suitable replacement or additional personnel, may adversely affect the Company’s operations along with 
its ability to develop and implement its business and growth strategies, which may affect its future financial performance.

In the interests of managing the risks and challenges associated with leadership succession and retention of intellectual property and 
experience, dusk has arrangements in place with key employees including employment agreements, short and long‑term incentives, 
and key employee equity holdings. dusk also has an experienced Board which is mindful of the issues associated with succession, 
and the importance of its team in maintaining the performance of the business. These matters cannot however, ensure the successful 
retention or succession of key people.

There may be adverse exchange rate movements
dusk purchases the majority of its products from suppliers in China. Most of the arrangements for purchase of products are 
denominated in US dollars, Chinese renminbi and Australian dollars in that descending order. dusk is therefore exposed to the foreign 
exchange rate movements.

The Company could also be exposed to additional currencies through the receipt of revenues and payment of costs in foreign 
currencies, should dusk move forward with international expansion plans. Adverse exchange rate movements in those currencies 
may also negatively impact on revenues generated by dusk, and as a result impact dusk’s financial performance.

There may be adverse movement in input costs of underlying raw materials
The predominant inputs to dusk’s products are glass, paper for packaging, paraffin based candle wax, soy based candle wax, and 
fragrance (concentrated oils). Each of these items in turn has various inputs, including oil for paraffin wax. The costs of most of these 
inputs is denominated in global markets in US dollars. The cost of shipping and freight are also significant inputs.

dusk is therefore exposed to movements in the price of various underlying commodities. For example, if the cost of glass increases 
and dusk or its suppliers are not able to negotiate prices or change inputs, specifications or formulations to mitigate this cost increase, 
the cost to dusk of purchasing some of its products will increase. If dusk is not able to pass the increased costs on to its customers, this 
will impact dusk’s product margins and profitability.

dusk also must comply with multiple complex awards for the payment of its employees, and may fail to do so
dusk store staff are typically employed and paid under the Australian retail award. The award is complex when combined with the 
large number of employees, different circumstances and terms of employment, a fluid work environment and constantly changing 
conditions and circumstances, and a distributed workforce around Australia. Any breach of the retail award could adversely affect 
the Company’s reputation and profitability with the imposition of significant fines or other adverse consequences.

Cyber security and IT infrastructure
dusk has access to a significant amount of customer information, including through its database of over 735,000 dusk Rewards 
members. The dusk Rewards program is a significant component of dusk’s business and therefore the protection of customer data is 
critical. A significant breach of customer data could attract regulatory action, negative media attention or brand damage and result 
in lost memberships, sales, fines or litigation, which could have a material adverse effect on dusk’s future financial performance and 
financial position. dusk does not store payment or credit card or bank account information of customers.

The Company has access to a significant amount of employee and company data, and any security breach in respect of this data 
could result in damage to dusk, including financial penalties and damage to dusk’s reputation with employees and suppliers, and 
ultimately result in a material adverse effect on the financial performance of the business.

dusk does not insure against cyber risk and as a result the occurrence of any of the above would result in direct costs being incurred 
by dusk, which may impact its financial performance.

dusk is also reliant on third party IT suppliers for the efficient operation of its IT systems (e.g. point of sale, its online store and loyalty 
program). Any failures of these IT suppliers to provide services to dusk’s requirements, system outages, defects in their software of 
systems, or disruptions caused by changing suppliers, could adversely affect dusk’s operations and financial performance.
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Directors’ report continued

Availability of funding and liquidity 
dusk currently has in place a working capital facility with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. In the future, dusk may wish to put in 
place other debt facilities or extend or renew the current facility. However, there is no guarantee that in the future dusk will be able to 
extend, renew or refinance its existing bank facilities at the required time, or access additional debt facilities if desired. Any new debt 
may also be available on terms that are less favourable to dusk.

If dusk is unable to access adequate debt financing when desired, or debt that is provided is on commercially less favourable terms, 
this may affect its financing costs, or its ability to fund its operations, meet its growth aspirations or respond to competitive pressures. 
This in turn may affect dusk’s financial performance.

dusk may experience product recalls
Goods sold in the home fragrance and wellbeing market could be subject to manufacturer or mandatory product recall notices 
due to failure of those goods to comply with the relevant Australian mandatory product safety standards or due to defects and risks 
posed by products.

dusk does not insure against the risk of product recalls, and as such any product recall would impose direct costs on dusk related 
to undertaking the recall, and may also result in significant brand and reputational damage for dusk. These outcomes could in turn 
result in a material adverse impact on the Company’s costs, sales and financial performance.

dusk may be involved in disputes or litigation
dusk may from time to time be the subject of complaints, litigation, inquiries or audits initiated by customers, employees, suppliers, 
landlords, government agencies, regulators or other third parties alleging matters such as incorrect product descriptions, injury, 
health, environmental, safety or operational concerns, negligence, failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations, or failure 
to comply with contractual obligations. In particular, dusk has been subject to a number of product liability claims from customers 
related to its Mood Flame ethanol burner product, which was also the subject of a product recall. As a result, insurance has not been 
able to be obtained from 1st June 2021 onwards for this product group.

If dusk were found to be liable under any such claims or decided to settle them, there could be a material adverse effect on dusk’s 
financial position and performance. Even if such claims or complaints were ultimately unsuccessful against dusk, they could have 
an adverse effect on dusk’s reputation and may divert Management’s attention from normal operations, which could in turn have a 
material adverse effect on dusk’s operational and financial performance.

Laws and regulations may change and any breach of law may negatively impact dusk
dusk is subject to, and must comply with, a variety of laws and regulations in the ordinary course of its business. dusk is also required 
to hold a licence in relation to the importation of certain industrial chemicals.

Changes to laws and regulations may restrict dusk’s operations or otherwise adversely affect dusk, including increasing dusk’s costs 
either directly (such as an increase in the amount of tax the Company is required to pay), or indirectly (including increasing the cost to 
the business of complying with legal requirements). Any such adverse effect may impact dusk’s future financial performance.

Any failure to comply with laws or licencing requirements, or a failure to renew its licence may adversely affect dusk’s operations 
and financial performance, including by resulting in fines or penalties, negative publicity or other claims against dusk or inability to 
operate its business as currently operated.

Significant changes in the state of affairs
There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the year.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
On 29 August 2023, the Directors declared a final dividend on ordinary shares in respect of the 2023 financial year. The total amount 
of the dividend is $1.87 million which represents a fully franked dividend of 3.0 cents per share. The dividend has not been provided 
for in the 2 July 2023 financial statements.

Other than the above, no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future 
financial years.
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Likely developments and expected results of operations
Given the uncertainty that persists in the macro environment, the Board will not provide FY24 revenue and earnings guidance at this 
time.

Due to seasonality, our 1H and FY24 earnings will be most determined by how we trade in November and December, and therefore 
the prevailing trading conditions at this time (not today). Our strategy and focus on strong execution and remaining nimble is 
unchanged.

Environmental regulation
The Group’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulations under a law of the Commonwealth or of a 
state or territory of Australia.

Information on Directors
The Directors of Dusk Group Limited in office are listed below together with details of their relevant interests in the securities of the 
Company as at 2 July 2023.

Name: John Joyce

Title: Independent Chair, Non‑Executive Director

Experience and expertise: John has over 30 years’ experience in senior management roles across a range of retailers and 
supermarkets. John previously held positions as CEO at Rebel Group and Managing Director at ALDI 
and currently runs his own independent advisory (Business Improvement Solutions) focused on retail 
and related businesses.

Other current listed 
directorships:

None

Former listed directorships 
in last 3 years:

None

Special responsibilities: Chair of the Board 
Member of the Remuneration Committee

Interests in shares 
and options:

Ordinary Shares – Dusk Group Limited
2,335,000

Name: Trent Peterson

Title: Non‑Executive Director

Experience and expertise: Trent has over 20 years’ investment and private equity experience, focused primarily on businesses 
operating in consumer, retail and media sectors. Trent is Managing Director of Catalyst Investment 
Managers and the founder and Managing Director of Catalyst Direct Capital Management.

Other current listed 
directorships:

Adairs Limited 
Universal Store Holdings Limited 
Shaver Shop Group Limited

Former listed directorships 
in last 3 years:

None

Special responsibilities: Chair of the Remuneration Committee 
Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

Interests in shares 
and options:

Ordinary Shares – Dusk Group Limited
278,500
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Directors’ report continued

Name: David MacLean

Title: Non‑Executive Director (Independent)

Experience and expertise: David was the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of Adairs for 14 years from 2002‑2016, 
having previously held the role of General Manager from 1989‑2002. David now runs his family 
investment office and holds minority interests in a number of private retail businesses.

Other current listed 
directorships:

Adairs Limited 
Universal Store Holdings Limited

Former listed directorships 
in last 3 years:

None

Special responsibilities: Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

Interests in shares 
and options:

Ordinary Shares – Dusk Group Limited
949,227

Name: Tracy Mellor

Title: Non‑Executive Director (Independent)

Experience and expertise: Tracy brings over 30 years of global experience in leadership roles across a number of different 
sectors including Pharma, Technology and Retail. Tracy is currently a consultant specialising in 
leadership effectiveness and company culture. Prior to this, she has held roles as Chief People Officer 
for Angus Knight Group, Global People and Culture Director for GreenLight Clinical, Managing 
Director and Global People Director for Reward Gateway, and Executive General Manager of People 
and Development at Rebel Group.

Other current listed 
directorships:

None

Former listed directorships 
in last 3 years:

None

Special responsibilities: Member of the Remuneration Committee 

Interests in shares 
and options:

Ordinary Shares – Dusk Group Limited 
46,400

Name: Katherine Ostin

Title: Non‑Executive Director (Independent)

Experience and expertise: Katherine was an audit partner at KPMG between 2005 and 2017 with diverse experience in Audit 
& Risk Management and responsible for a wide range of listed and unlisted companies. She is a 
Chartered Accountant and Company Director of a number of listed and unlisted companies where 
she also chairs the Audit & Risk Committees. Kathy has also previously been non-executive director of 
a number of not-for-profit organisations.

Other current listed 
directorships:

Capral Limited
3P Learning Limited

Former listed directorships 
in last 3 years:

Swift Media Limited (October 2019 to November 2021)

Special responsibilities: Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee

Interests in shares 
and options:

Ordinary Shares – Dusk Group Limited
20,804
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Name: Peter King (resigned 19 July 2023)

Title: Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer

Experience and expertise: Peter has over 25 years’ experience in senior leadership positions including General Manager 
Australia/New Zealand and Head of Global New Product Development and Sourcing at Skins 
Australia and New Zealand, General Manager at Colorado Group, General Manager at Tabcorp, 
Marketing Director at Maxxium Australia and Marketing Director at Levi Strauss.

Other current listed 
directorships:

None

Former listed directorships 
in last 3 years:

None

Special responsibilities: Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer 

Interests in shares 
and options:

Ordinary Shares – Dusk Group Limited 
2,260,059

Company secretary
Kate Sundquist held the position of Company Secretary during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report. Kate is 
a Certified Practising Accountant and has a Bachelor of Business from the University of Technology, Sydney and a MBA from Deakin 
University. Kate has over 20 years’ experience across retail and wholesale companies in Australia, New Zealand and Europe. 

Meetings of Directors
During the financial year, 15 meetings of directors were held, 3 meetings of the Audit & Risk Committee were held, and 2 meetings of 
the Remuneration Committee were held. Attendances by each Director who was a member of the Board and relevant subcommittee 
during the year were as follows:

Board of Directors Meetings
Audit and Risk  

Committee Meetings
Remuneration  

Committee Meetings

Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held

John Joyce 15 15 – – 2 2

Trent Peterson 15 15 3 3 2 2

David MacLean 15 15 3 3 – –

Tracy Mellor 15 15 – – 2 2

Katherine Ostin 15 15 3 3 – –

Peter King 15 15 – – – –

Shares under option and performance rights
There were 975,000 unissued ordinary shares of Dusk Group Limited under option outstanding at the date of this report.

There were 381,302 unissued ordinary shares of Dusk Group Limited under performance rights outstanding at the date of this report.

Shares issued on the exercise of options and performance rights
There were no ordinary shares of Dusk Group Limited issued on the exercise of options or performance rights during the year ended 
2 July 2023 and up to the date of this report.

Annual Report 2023 19



Directors’ report continued

Indemnity and insurance of directors and officers
During or since the financial year, the Group has paid premiums in respect of a contract insuring all the directors of the Company 
against legal costs incurred in defending proceedings for conduct other than:
a.	 A wilful breach of duty;
b.	 A contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations Act 2001, as permitted by section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001.

Under the terms of policy, the total amount of insurance contract premiums paid cannot be disclosed.

Indemnity and insurance of auditor
To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditor, Ernst & Young (Australia), as part of the terms of its 
audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No payment has 
been made to indemnify Ernst & Young (Australia) during or since the financial year.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
Company for all or part of those proceedings.

Non-audit services
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor are 
outlined in note 27 to the financial statements.

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another person 
or firm on the auditor’s behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations 
Act 2001.

The Directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements do not compromise the external 
auditor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
•	 all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the 

auditor; and
•	 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the 
auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company 
or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

Officers of the Company who are former partners of Ernst & Young (Australia)
There are no officers of the Company who are former partners of Ernst & Young (Australia).

Rounding
The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (unless otherwise stated) 
under the option available to the Company under ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191. 
The Company is an entity to which the legislative instrument applies.

Auditor’s independence declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration in accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 2 July 2023 
has been received and can be found on page 33 of the consolidated financial report.

Auditor
Ernst & Young (Australia) continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.
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Remuneration report (audited)

The Directors of Dusk Group Limited present the Remuneration Report for the Group for the 52 week period from 4 July 2022 
to 2 July 2023. This Remuneration report forms part of the Directors’ Report and has been audited in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001.

The report sets out the remuneration arrangements for the Group’s key management personnel (KMP) (listed in the table below) 
who have been KMP for the reporting period. For the purpose of this report the KMP are referred to as either the Non-Executive 
Directors (NED) or Senior Executives (being the Executive Director and Other KMP).

All Non-Executive Directors and Senior Executives have held their positions for the entire duration of the reporting period unless 
otherwise indicated.

Names Position

Non-Executive Directors

John Joyce Independent, Non-Executive Chair

David MacLean Independent, Non-Executive Director

Tracy Mellor Independent, Non-Executive Director 

Katherine Ostin Independent, Non-Executive Director 

Trent Peterson Non-Executive Director

Executive Directors

Peter King (resigned 19 July 2023) Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Managing Director

Other Key Management Personnel

Kate Sundquist Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Company Secretary

Contents

Section 1: Remuneration overview 

Section 2: Remuneration strategy and policy

Section 3: Role of the Remuneration Committee and external advisors

Section 4: Company performance – relationship between financial performance and 
remuneration

Section 5: Senior Executive remuneration structure

Section 6: Non-Executive Directors remuneration structure

Section 7: KMP disclosures

Section 8: Details of remuneration

Section 9: Consequences of performance on shareholders wealth
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Remuneration report (audited) continued

Section 1: Remuneration overview
The remuneration outcomes outlined in this report reflect the Company’s approach to rewarding Non-Executive Directors and Senior 
Executives for delivering strong performance and holding the executive team accountable to ensure value for all shareholders.

The FY23 financial results reflected the challenging trading conditions in a year where higher interest rates and mounting cost of 
living pressures increasingly impacted the net disposable income of our core customer. Total revenue decreased by 0.6% to $137.6 
million in FY23 compared to FY22. Pro forma EBIT for the year was $16.5 million, down 37.6% on FY22. Pro forma EBIT is unaudited 
and excludes NSW JobSaver receipts, rental concessions, Eroma acquisition costs (terminated transaction), New Zealand setup costs 
and is pre-AASB 16. 

Despite the challenges and uncertainties, the Board is proud of the results that the team have delivered. We would like to recognise 
the hard work, dedication and sacrifices of all our employees. They have aligned around a common cause, and through their 
steadfast commitment, they have remained safe and healthy, continued to support their communities, and enabled dusk to 
generate solid results for all stakeholders. The Board believes the remuneration outcomes for FY23 achieved a balance and achieve 
appropriate alignment between pay and performance of both the companies and KMP during the year. Finally, we believe the 
remuneration outcomes for executive KMP are also fair in terms of the context of prior year remuneration outcomes, the financial 
results of the company, and the returns achieved by shareholders since IPO.

Section 2: Remuneration strategy and policy
The remuneration philosophy of dusk is designed to attract and retain talented and motivated culturally aligned Senior Executives 
and Team Members who can enhance the Company’s performance through their contributions and leadership. We believe this 
provides a competitive advantage that is fundamental to the long-term success of the Company. Fostering a workplace culture that 
supports the belief and necessity to maintain and develop leaders is a priority for dusk.

In considering the remuneration arrangements of Senior Executives, the Remuneration Committee makes recommendations based 
on the following principles:

Reward for outcomes and performance;


 









Strengthen capabilities by attracting and retaining high calibre talent;

Align the interests of executives to those of the shareholders;

Contribute to driving sustainable long-term performance of the business;

Reflect sound risk management and drive the right behaviours;

Be simple and transparent.

In relation to its most senior Team Members, the Board’s strategy is to deepen executive commitment to the Company and align 
management and shareholder interests through the ownership of shares or related securities.
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Section 3: Role of the Remuneration Committee and external advisors 
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing the remuneration arrangements for its Directors and 
Senior Executives. The Board believes that performance of the Company depends on the quality and motivation of its team. dusk’s 
remuneration strategy therefore seeks to attract, retain and reward team members at all levels of the business, with a particular 
emphasis on key executives and high potential team members. The Board has appointed a Remuneration Committee whose 
objective is to assist the Board in relation to the Company’s remuneration strategy, policies, and decisions. In seeking to deliver 
this objective, the Committee must give appropriate consideration to financial performance, delivery of strategic objectives, 
environmental social governance (ESG) considerations, and the outcomes for our shareholders.

The diagram below outlines how the Board interacts with internal and external stakeholders of the Company.

Responsible for assisting the Board to 
fulfill its corporate governance and 
oversight responsibilities in relation to 
the Company’s overall people strategy. 
Recommendations are made to the 
Board for approval on remuneration 
arrangements and incentive offers for 
the CEO and other Senior Executives as 
well as Non-Executive Directors.

Remuneration advisors may be appointed by 
the Remuneration Committee or management 

to provide external advice. 

Responsible for providing the required information 
to the Committee to support their decision-making 

in considering specific situations pertaining to 
employment terms for individuals, or groups of 

individuals as needed.

BOARD
Ultimately responsible for the active 

oversight of the remuneration 
framework and its effective 

operation. It may delegate the 
design, operation and monitoring of 
the remuneration framework to the 

Remuneration Committee

Remuneration  
Committee

External  
Remuneration  

Advisors
Management
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Remuneration report (audited) continued

All Non-Executive Directors have a standing invitation to attend Remuneration Committee meetings. Other non-committee members, 
including members of management, may attend meetings of the Committee at the invitation of the Committee Chair.

During the reporting period ending 2 July 2023, KPMG assisted us in reviewing our LTI and comparing it to our peers. As a result, the 
Board determined that a move to Performance Rights as the type of security (rather than options) for the FY23 LTI grant would be 
appropriate and better aligned with that of others in the market (ASX listed retailers). The total fees paid to KPMG was $31,500.

No other remuneration consultants and external advisors provided a remuneration recommendation during the reporting period 
ending 2 July 2023.

Section 4: Company performance – relationship between financial performance and remuneration
Remuneration for Senior Executives is directly linked to the performance of the Company.

The FY23 STI plan for Senior Executives is based on the achievement of pre-determined targets and performance criteria. The 
performance condition is the pro forma EBIT of the business (see chart below). 

The FY23 long-term incentive (LTI) plan offered Senior Executives performance rights over the ordinary shares of Dusk Group Limited. 
The performance rights issued for nil consideration, are subject to the satisfaction of both performance and service conditions, with 
both aspects ending on the 29 June 2025. Key details of the LTI are summarised in Section 5 of this report. Approval of the FY23 LTI 
plan for Senior Executives was adopted by the Board on 21 November 2022.

Short-Term Measures
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138.4

26.5

148.6

38.4

137.6

16.5

 Sales ($M)  Pro forma EBIT ($M)

STI and LTI Outcomes FY23

STI 0%

LTI As per the LTI Plan this will be determined following the release of the FY23 audited results.

The minimum threshold for any STI to be payable was achieving a pro forma EBIT result in FY23 of $20.0 million. As this was not 
achieved, no STI was awarded. 

Dusk Group Limited24



Section 5: Senior Executive remuneration structure
The FY23 Senior Executive remuneration structure consists of two components:

Fixed  
Remuneration

At Risk  
Remuneration

Base Salary 

Superannuation

Short-term incentives (STI) – cash based

Long-term incentives (LTI) – share options based

The combination of fixed and at-risk components for each Senior Executive as a percentage of total on target remuneration for FY23 
is as follows : 

Senior Executive
Fixed 

Remuneration

At Risk 
Remuneration 

(STI)

At Risk 
Remuneration 

(LTI)

Peter King 46.4% 28.0% 25.6%

Kate Sundquist 53.7% 24.1% 22.2%

Note: The above assumes that each Senior Executive receives their maximum STI in the relevant period, and the LTI is measured at the fair value of the LTI grant in the FY23 year. 

Fixed Remuneration
The remuneration of Senior Executives includes a fixed component comprised of base salary and employer superannuation 
contributions that are in line with statutory obligations.

The remuneration policy provides Senior Executives a base salary package that reflects the base salary for a comparable role in 
similarly sized companies operating in the retail industry, having regard to the experience and expertise of the Senior Executive, 
their performance and history with the Company, and other relevant factors. From 1 October 2022 the fixed remuneration was set at 
$555,000 for the CEO and $390,000 for the CFO.

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee and recommendations are made to the Board. Any 
change is usually effective from the first full pay fortnight in October. There is no guaranteed salary increase in any Senior Executive’s 
employment contract.
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Remuneration report (audited) continued

Short-term Incentive
Under the STI Plan participants are entitled to receive a cash bonus subject to the achievement of company performance hurdles as 
determined by the Board. The performance hurdles can include financial and non-financial performance measures. The frequency, 
quantum and maximum payments under the STI Plan will be determined by the Board. While the Board has flexibility to include 
financial and non-financial performance measures, the history of the STI plans for our KMP (including in FY23) is that pro forma EBIT 
is the primary financial measure used. 

The Board considers pro forma EBIT to be a well understood financial measure which is tracked by the Board and KMP on a monthly 
basis and is transparent to investors in our annual and half yearly reporting. EBIT as a measure requires management to balance 
revenue growth, gross margin, and manage CODB – which we regard as a key task of KMP is a changing retail environment. 

Participation in the STI Plan is subject to a participant’s ongoing employment with the Company in the relevant period. Where 
a participant ceases to be employed by the Company prior to the date of release of our annual results, the Board has the 
discretion to determine whether the participant will retain any eligibility to their STI Plan awards or if the participant’s STI Plan 
award will be forfeited.

For FY23, the maximum incentive (Maximum STI) that may be awarded to Management was set as a fixed dollar amount which 
when expressed as a percentage of annual total fixed remuneration (TFR) equated to the CEO at 60.4%, and the CFO at 44.9%. 

Other selected employees may also be eligible to participate in the STI Plan, and the Maximum STI for those employees will be 
determined by the Board based on similar criteria to the KMP.

In FY23, the sole measure upon which the STI entitlement is determined is pro forma EBIT and was set based on a stretch target Pro 
forma EBIT for FY23 shall be calculated consistent with the manner in which pro forma EBIT was calculated and presented in the 
Prospectus. Using pro forma EBIT as the sole KPI measure ensures that variable rewards are only paid when value is created for 
shareholders and profitability meets or exceeds a level approved by the Board.

As described in Section 4, no bonus amount was earned by the participants.

Senior Executives Target STI ($)
Actual STI 

awarded ($)

Actual STI 
awarded as a % 
of maximum STI

% of maximum 
STI forfeited

Peter King $335,000 $0 0% 100%

Kate Sundquist $175,000 $0 0% 100%

Long-term Incentive
The Company operates an LTI plan to assist in the motivation, reward and retention of Senior Executives and other employees 
that may be invited to participate in the plan from time to time. The Equity Incentive Plan (EIP) is used to deliver LTI awards and is 
designed to align the interests of employees with the interests of shareholders, by providing an opportunity for employees to receive 
an equity interest in the Company. The EIP Rules (Plan Rules) provide flexibility for the Company to grant rights, options and/or 
restricted shares as incentives, subject to the terms of individual offers and the satisfaction of performance and vesting conditions 
determined by the Board from time to time.

Offers may be made at the Board’s discretion to certain Senior Executives. The CEO is the only Director who is eligible to receive 
an LTI award in FY23. The CEO has been allocated 204,608 performance rights under his FY23 LTI award. The CEO’s performance 
rights have a fair value of $306,094. The CFO has been allocated 107,834 performance rights under her FY23 LTI award. The CFO’s 
performance rights have a fair value of $161,320. These performance rights were granted on 21 November 2022.
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Performance Conditions
The performance period for FY23 LTI awards is three years. The TSR performance conditions for the FY23 award will be measured 
over a period from the release of the FY22 result to the ASX, to the release of the FY25 results to the ASX. The EPS growth CAGR is 
measured as between the pro forma FY22 EPS and the FY25 EPS. 

A weighting of 30% of a participant’s performance rights will be tested against the CAGR of the Company’s total shareholder return 
(TSR CAGR Hurdle), and the remaining 70% will be tested against the CAGR of the Company’s underlying earnings per share (EPS 
CAGR Hurdle). The Board believe these measures are transparent, well understood by shareholders, and effective in aligning the 
interests of management and shareholders over the longer term.

TSR CAGR Hurdle
The number of performance rights subject to the TSR CAGR Hurdle that vest will be determined by the Board by reference to the 
CAGR in the Company’s total shareholder return (TSR). The percentage of performance rights that vest, if any, will be determined by 
reference to the following vesting schedule:

Level of Achievement Percentage of participants’ TSR Rights that vest

Less than 5% p.a. Nil

5% p.a. (threshold performance) 30%

Between 5% p.a. and 15% p.a. Straight line pro-rata vesting between 30% and 100%

15% p.a. or above (stretch performance) 100%

The base for TSR is the volume weighted average price for the five trading days following the announcement of the FY22 results 
(i.e. $2.17 per share) and the end is the volume weighted average price for the five trading days following the announcement of the 
FY25 full year audited results, and is inclusive of any dividends paid in the intervening period. The TSR CAGR measure has been 
chosen because it provides a direct link between executive reward and shareholder return. The hurdles have been set as we believe 
the minimum threshold of 5% represents a satisfactory base level return for shareholders, and 15% would represent a strong return 
having regard to the average long term returns delivered to investors in Australian listed equities. 

EPS CAGR Hurdle
The percentage of performance rights that vest, if any, will be determined by reference to the following vesting schedule:

Level of Achievement Percentage of participants’ EPS Rights that vest

Less than 32 cents Nil

32 cents (threshold performance) 30%

Between 32 cents and 36 cents Straight line pro-rata vesting between 30% and 100%

36 cents or above (stretch performance) 100%

The base for EPS CAGR is $0.30 (i.e. FY22 underlying EPS) and the end point is the EPS reported in the FY25 full year audited results. 
If considered appropriate this can be adjusted by the Board to ensure the plan operates fairly and as intended. The EPS CAGR hurdle 
has been chosen as it provides evidence of dusk’s growth in profitability and is linked to shareholder returns. 

Calculation of the performance conditions and achievement against the performance conditions and vesting schedule will be 
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, having regard to any matters that it considers relevant (including any adjustments 
for unusual or non-recurring items).
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Remuneration report (audited) continued

Treatment on cessation of employment
Unless otherwise determined by the Board, if a Senior Executive’s employment is terminated for cause or a participant resigns (or 
gives notice of their resignation) prior to the vesting date, all of their unvested options and performance rights will lapse. Where a 
Senior Executive is considered a ‘good leaver’ by the Board (in its absolute discretion) and retains this status after leaving, the Board 
will consider allowing a Senior Executive to retain a pro-rata portion of the securities and to evaluate their vesting in due course.

Where a Senior Executive ceases employment for any other reason prior to the vesting date, a pro-rata proportion of their unvested 
performance rights and options (calculated based on the portion of the Performance Period that has elapsed) will remain on foot 
and will be tested in the ordinary course. All vested performance rights and options will remain on foot if a Senior Executive ceases 
employment after the vesting date and must be exercised within sixty days.

Under the Plan Rules, the Board has a broad discretion in relation to the treatment of entitlements on cessation of employment. 

Treatment on change of control
In the event of a takeover bid for the Company or the Board considers a change of control is likely to occur, the Board has the 
discretion to accelerate vesting of some or all of a participant’s unvested performance rights and options. Where only some of the 
performance rights and options vest, the remainder will lapse, unless the Board determines otherwise. Any vested but unexercised 
performance rights and options will be exercisable for a period of 60 days or otherwise for a period notified by the Board and will 
lapse after the end of that period if they are not exercised.

If an actual change of control occurs before the Board has exercised its discretion, all unvested performance rights and options will 
vest, and Senior Executives will have 60 days to exercise vested performance rights and options.

Long-term incentive Review and Forward Planning 
We expect to make a further grant of securities to KMP in FY24 under the LTI plan. The nature of securities granted will be similar 
to those granted in FY23. The performance conditions will be updated having regard to the baseline position, and reasonable and 
stretch targets for FY26. 

Senior Executive Service Agreements
The Company has entered into service agreements with Peter King and Kate Sundquist to formalise the remuneration and terms of 
their employment. Each of these agreements provides for the provision of fixed remuneration, performance related cash bonuses 
and other benefits.

The service agreements with the Senior Executives are ongoing until terminated by either party. All contracts with the Senior 
Executives may be terminated early by either party with six months’ notice. In either event, the Company may make payment in lieu 
of notice. In the event of serious misconduct or other circumstances warranting summary dismissal, the Company may terminate the 
Senior Executive’s employment contract immediately without notice.

After cessation of employment for any reason, for a period of six months, the Senior Executive must not compete with the Company 
(including direct or indirect involvement as a principal, agent, partner, employee, shareholder, unit holder, director, trustee, 
beneficiary, manager, contractor, adviser or financier), without first obtaining the consent of the Company in writing, subject to 
certain carve outs and exemptions.

No contracted retirement benefits are in place with any of the Company’s Senior Executives. 
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Section 6: Non-Executive Directors remuneration structure
The Company’s remuneration strategy is designed to attract and retain experienced, qualified Non-Executive Directors and to 
remunerate appropriately to reflect the demands which are made of them and the responsibilities of the position.

The level of fees are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee and are based on the fees paid for comparative 
Non‑Executive Director roles in similarly sized publicly listed companies operating in the retail industry.

Non-Executive Directors’ Fees
Non-Executive Director fees are determined within an aggregate Non-Executive Directors’ fee pool approved by the Board. This 
amount has been fixed by the Company at $650,000 per annum.

Currently, annual Non-Executive Directors’ base fees and Committee fees agreed to be paid by the Company (inclusive of any 
superannuation payable) are as follows:
•	 base fee of $110,502 per annum to the Chair;
•	 base fee of $70,320 per annum to each other Non-Executive Director;
•	 fee of $10,046 per annum to the Audit and Risk Committee Chair;
•	 fee of $5,023 per annum to the Remuneration Committee Chair;
•	 fee of $2,009 per annum for each of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee; and
•	 fee of $1,005 per annum for each of the members of the Remuneration Committee.

The Directors are entitled to be paid all travelling and other expenses they incur in attending to the Company’s affairs, including 
attending and returning from general meetings of the Company or meetings of the Board or of Committees of the Board. Such 
amounts will not form part of the aggregate remuneration amount approved by shareholders. In FY22 and beyond, any Directors’ 
fees payable to Trent Peterson shall be paid to Catalyst Investment Managers Pty Ltd for so long as Catalyst has a substantial 
shareholding in the Company. To maintain the independence of directors, Non-Executive Directors do not receive shares as part of 
their remuneration from the Company. 

Any Director who performs extra services, makes any special exertions for the benefit of the Company or who otherwise performs 
services which, in the opinion of the Board, are outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Non-Executive Director, may be 
remunerated for the services (as determined by the Board) out of the funds of the Company. Any amount paid will not form part of 
the aggregate remuneration amount approved by shareholders.

Section 7: KMP disclosures

Material Contracts with the Company
No Director or other KMP (including their related parties) has entered into a material contract with the Company or a subsidiary 
during the reporting period.

Loans with the Company
No Director or other KMP (including their related parties) has entered into a loan made, guaranteed or secured, directly or indirectly, 
by the Company during the reporting period.
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Remuneration report (audited) continued

Section 8: Details of remuneration
The below table shows the total remuneration of the Directors and KMP of the Company for 2023 and 2022.

52 weeks ended 2 July 2023 Short-term employee benefits

Post-
employment 

benefits
Share-based 

payments Total

In AUD Salary and fees1 STI Bonuses

Non-Executive Directors

John Joyce $100,911 – $10,596 – $111,507

Trent Peterson2 $77,000 – – – $77,000

Katherine Ostin $72,729 – $7,636 – $80,365

Tracy Mellor $64,547 – $6,777 – $71,324

David MacLean $65,456 – $6,873 – $72,329

Total Non-Executive Directors $380,643 $0 $31,882 $0 $412,525

Executive Directors

Peter King3 $514,433 – $40,567 ($119,452) $435,548

Other KMP

Kate Sundquist $351,505 – $36,803 $37,184 $425,492

Total Executive Directors $865,937 $0 $77,370 ($82,268) $861,040

Total 2023 $1,246,580 $0 $109,253 ($82,268) $1,273,565

1.	 Inclusive of Committee Fees and exclusive of Super.
2.	 The Director fees for Trent Peterson were paid to Catalyst Investment Managers Pty Ltd up to 30 November 2022. From 1 December 2022 the Director fees for Trent Peterson were paid 

to Catalyst Direct Capital Management Pty Ltd.
3.	 Peter King’s share based payments were reversed as his options and performance rights lapsed on resignation.

53 weeks ended 3 July 2022 Short-term employee benefits

Post-
employment 

benefits
Share-based 

payments Total

In AUD Salary and fees1 STI Bonuses

Non-Executive Directors

John Joyce $103,319 – $10,332 – $113,651

Trent Peterson2 $77,000 – – – $77,000

Katherine Ostin $74,464 – $7,447 – $81,911

Tracy Mellor $66,087 – $6,609 – $72,696

David MacLean $67,018 – $6,702 – $73,720

Total Non-Executive Directors $387,889 $0 $31,089 $0 $418,978

Executive Directors

Peter King $505,291 – $50,089 $93,985 $649,366

Other KMP

Kate Sundquist $347,043 – $34,163 $52,214 $433,420

Total Executive Directors $852,334 $0 $84,252 $146,199 $1,082,785

Total 2022 $1,240,223 $0 $115,341 $146,199 $1,501,763

1.	 Inclusive of Committee Fees and exclusive of Super.
2.	 The Director fees for Trent Peterson were paid to Catalyst Investment Managers Pty Ltd.
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Section 9: Consequences of performance on shareholders wealth
In considering the Company’s overall performance and the benefits for shareholder wealth, the Remuneration Committee has a 
range of indicators to consider in respect of Senior Executive remuneration and correlated these to the short and long-term incentives 
as detailed above.

The below table and chart present these indicators showing the impact of the company’s performance on shareholder wealth. The 
table within the operational and financial review section of the Directors’ report bridges the statutory EBIT to the Pro forma EBIT.

Indicator FY21 FY22 FY23

Pro forma earnings before interest and tax ($’000) $38.4m $26.5m $16.5m

Pro forma net profit after tax ($’000) $26.8m $18.4m $11.7m

Dividends paid 25.0 cents per share  
(incl final FY21 dividend 

declared of 10 cents)

20.0 cents per share  
(incl final FY22 dividend 

declared of 10 cents)

11.0 cents per share  
(incl final FY23 dividend 

declared of 3 cents)

Share Price $3.50 (as at 27 June 2021) $1.75 (as at 3 July 2022) $1.03 (as at 2 July 2023)

Pro forma Earnings per share (cents)1 43.1 cents 29.6 cents 18.8 cents

1.	 Based on the shares on issue as at 27 June 2021, 3 July 2022 and 2 July 2023 (62.3 million shares).

DSK share price

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

$

Jun 2023May 2023Apr 2023Mar 2023Feb 2023Jan 2023Dec 2022Nov 2022Oct 2022Sep 2022Aug 2022Jul 2022

KMP Shareholdings
The following table details the ordinary shareholdings and the movements in the shareholdings of Directors and KMP for the year 
ended 2 July 2023.

No. of Shares
Held at time of 

Listing
Shares 

Purchased Shares Sold
Held at 2 July 

2023

Non-Executive Directors

John Joyce 2,335,000 – – 2,335,000

David MacLean* 949,227 – – 949,227

Tracy Mellor 37,500 8,900 – 46,400

Katherine Ostin 20,804 – – 20,804

Trent Peterson 278,500 – – 278,500

Executive Directors

Peter King 2,260,059 – – 2,260,059

Key Management Personnel

Kate Sundquist 75,000 – – 75,000

*	 David MacLean’s shareholding is via his private company, David MacLean Investments.
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Remuneration report (audited) continued

KMP Option Holdings
The following table details the share performance rights and option holdings and the movements of KMP for FY23. 

No. of Share 
Performance Rights 
and Options

Held at 
3 July 2022

Quantity 
Granted Exercised Forfeited Lapsed

Held at 
2 July 2023

Vested 
 %

Vested and 
exercisable 

as at  
2 July 2023

Non-Executive Directors

John Joyce – – – – – – – –

David MacLean – – – – – – – –

Tracy Mellor – – – – – – – –

Katherine Ostin – – – – – – – –

Trent Peterson – – – – – – – –

Executive Directors

Peter King1 900,000 204,608 – – (1,104,608) – – –

Key Management 
Personnel

Kate Sundquist 500,000 107,834 – – – 607,834 – –

1.	 The options and performance rights granted to Peter King lapsed on resignation in FY23. On 18 July 2023 the Board exercised discretion and determined that due to being a 
‘good leaver’, 1/3 of performance rights (68,203) would be left on foot and vesting will be determined in due course. 

End of Audited Remuneration Report.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Board

John Joyce
Executive Chair	

Sydney 
28 September 2023
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Auditor’s independence declaration

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislat ion

Ernst  & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au

Auditor’s independence declarat ion to the directors of dusk Group
Limited

As lead auditor for the audit  of the financial report of dusk Group Limited for the 52 weeks ended 2
July 2023, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporat ions Act  2001 in
relat ion to the audit ;

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relat ion to the audit ; and

c. No non-audit  services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in
relat ion to the audit .

This declarat ion is in respect of dusk Group Limited and the ent it ies it  cont rolled during the financial
year.

Ernst & Young

Lisa Nijssen-Smith
Partner
28 September 2023
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Note
2023

$’000

2022 
$’000

(restated)1 

Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers 4 137,623 138,393

Cost of sales 7 (49,852) (47,512)

Gross profit 87,771 90,881 

Other income 5 590 1,595 

Expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expense (19,021) (17,676)

Employee benefit expense 7 (37,830) (33,290)

Asset, property and maintenance expenses (243) (202)

Occupancy expenses (2,772) (2,652)

Advertising expenses (2,559) (2,990)

Acquisition costs (Eroma transaction terminated) – (1,057)

Other expenses 7 (7,919) (6,640)

Finance costs 7 (1,781) (1,487)

Finance income 6 378 – 

Profit before income tax expense 16,614 26,482 

Income tax expense 8 (5,027) (8,000)

Profit after income tax expense for the year attributable to the owners of  
Dusk Group Limited

11,587 18,482 

Other comprehensive loss

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation (31) – 

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (31) – 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of  
Dusk Group Limited 11,556 18,482 

Cents Cents

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the owners of Dusk Group Limited

Basic earnings per share 38 18.6 29.7

Diluted earnings per share 38 18.5 29.2

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.

1.	 The Group has reclassified the costs of distribution and handling activities directly relating to the Group’s performance obligation to deliver goods to the customer, within Cost of 
sales instead of within Other expenses. Prior year comparatives have also been reclassified. The amount of the reclassification was $2.509 million in 2023 (2022: $2.853 million). These 
reclassifications have not resulted in a change to Net profit after tax, as well as no change to the Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

Consolidated statement of profit or loss  
and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 2 July 2023

Consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 2 July 2023

Note
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 16,006 21,278 

Trade receivables and other financial assets 10 384 369 

Inventories 11 15,172 15,415 

Right-of-return assets 168 375 

Prepayments 1,451 1,674 

Current tax assets 12 4,250 – 

Total current assets 37,431 39,111 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 13 11,377 11,079 

Right-of-use assets 14 32,776 29,175 

Intangible assets 15 2,168 2,187 

Deferred tax assets 16 5,772 6,723 

Total non-current assets 52,093 49,164 

Total assets 89,524 88,275 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade payables and other financial liabilities 17 7,627 9,217 

Provisions 18 1,779 2,750 

Employee benefit liabilities 19 1,572 1,498 

Lease liabilities 20 13,821 14,263 

Current tax liabilities 21 – 719 

Total current liabilities 24,799 28,447 

Non-current liabilities

Trade payables and other financial liabilities 17 352 303 

Provisions 18 1,318 1,344 

Employee benefit liabilities 19 571 475 

Lease liabilities 20 25,743 21,243 

Total non-current liabilities 27,984 23,365 

Total liabilities 52,783 51,812 

Net assets 36,741 36,463 

Equity

Issued capital 22 3,487 3,487 

Other capital reserves 23 (3,223) (3,122)

Retained earnings 36,477 36,098 

Total equity 36,741 36,463 

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 2 July 2023

Issued  
capital

$’000

Retained 
earnings

$’000

Other capital 
reserves

$’000

Total  
equity
$’000

Balance at 27 June 2021 3,487 30,070 (3,342) 30,215

Profit after income tax expense for the year – 18,482 – 18,482

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – 18,482 – 18,482

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Dividends paid (note 24) – (12,454) – (12,454)

Share-based payments (note 23) – – 220 220

Balance at 3 July 2022 3,487 36,098 (3,122) 36,463

Issued  
capital

$’000

Retained 
earnings

$’000

Other capital 
reserves

$’000

Total  
equity
$’000

Balance at 3 July 2022 3,487 36,098 (3,122) 36,463

Profit after income tax expense for the year – 11,587 – 11,587

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax – – (31) (31)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year – 11,587 (31) 11,556

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Dividends paid (note 24) – (11,208) – (11,208)

Share-based payments (note 23) – – (70) (70)

Balance at 2 July 2023 3,487 36,477 (3,223) 36,741

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Dusk Group Limited36



Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 2 July 2023

Note
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 151,528 152,519 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (115,680) (106,678)

Net interest paid (1,403) (1,487)

Income taxes paid (9,045) (12,995)

Receipt of government grants – JobSaver – 1,050 

Net cash from operating activities 34 25,400 32,409 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,656) (4,707)

Purchase of intangible assets (275) (575)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – 6 

Proceeds from sale of financial derivative 399 – 

Net cash used in investing activities (3,532) (5,276)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid by parent entity (11,208) (12,454)

Payment of lease liabilities (15,932) (14,809)

Net cash used in financing activities (27,140) (27,263)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,272) (130)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 21,278 21,408 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 9 16,006 21,278 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

Note 1.  Corporate information
The consolidated financial report of Dusk Group Limited and its controlled entities (referred to hereafter as ‘dusk’, ‘the Group’ or ‘the 
Company’) for 52 weeks ended 2 July 2023 (‘FY23’ or ‘2023’) were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 
on 28 September 2023.

The Group utilises a 52 week retail calendar year for financial reporting purposes, which ended on 2 July 2023. The prior year was a 
53 week retail calendar which ended on 3 July 2022 (‘FY22’ or ‘2022’).

Dusk Group Limited is a for-profit company limited by shares incorporated in Australia, whose shares are publicly traded on the 
Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’).

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is Building 1, Level 3, 75 O’Riordan Street, Alexandria, NSW 2015.

Further information on the nature of the operations and principal activity of the Group is described in the Directors’ report. 
Information on the Group’s structure is provided in note 32. Information on other related party relationships of the Group is provided 
in note 30.

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board.

The financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis except derivative financial instruments that have been measured at 
fair value.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand ($000), except when 
otherwise indicated under the option available to the Company under ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) 
Instrument 2016/191. The Company is an entity to which this legislative instrument applies.

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future 
operations and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities will occur in the ordinary course of business. As such, any financial 
impact of such unknown future events has not been considered within the Group’s going concern assessment or this financial report.

Based on current expectations, the Directors consider that the Group will have sufficient cash available to meet its liabilities as they 
fall due.

Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.

Parent entity information
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the Group only. Supplementary 
information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 31.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 2 July 2023 and 
3 July 2022. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only 
if, the Group has:
•	 Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)
•	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
•	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns
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Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and when the Group 
has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in 
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
•	 The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
•	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 
more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group 
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the Parent of 
the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When 
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group 
loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other 
components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised 
for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the 
fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has 
correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the 
amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired 
over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating 
units (CGU) that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. 
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of 
the CGU retained.

Current and non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classifications. An asset is current when it is:
•	 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;
•	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
•	 Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or
•	 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.
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A liability is current when:
•	 Expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle:
•	 Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
•	 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
•	 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments does not 
affect its classification. 

All other liabilities are classified as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

Foreign currencies
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency. 
The Group determines the functional currency for each entity, and items included in the financial statements of each entity are 
measured using that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot rates at the 
date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at 
the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

Operating segments
Operating segments are presented using the ‘management approach’, where the information presented is on the same basis as the 
internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’). The CODM is responsible for the allocation of resources 
to operating segments and assessing their performance. The Group operates within one operating segment, being retail sales of 
home fragrance products and accessories.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Dusk Group Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit 
or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates at the reporting date. 
The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the average exchange rates, which 
approximate the rates at the dates of the transactions, for the period. All resulting foreign exchange differences are recognised in 
other comprehensive income through the foreign currency reserve in equity.

The foreign currency reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operation or net investment is disposed of.

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods are transferred to the customer at an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods. The Group has generally 
concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements because it typically controls the goods before revenue transferring 
them to the customer.
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Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on 
delivery of the products.

Loyalty Program Membership – dusk Rewards
The Group has a loyalty program, dusk Rewards, which gives rise to a separate performance obligation as they provide a material 
right to the customer. A portion of membership revenue (2023: 20%; 2022: 19%) is deferred and recognised as a contract liability which 
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the loyalty card (24 months).

Contract liabilities
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an 
amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services 
to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract 
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all attached conditions 
will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods 
that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Government grants received by the Group consist of JobSaver payments. Refer to note 5 for further information.

Taxes

Current income tax expense
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Management implements a net approach in presenting 
deferred tax balances in relation to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•	 When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or
•	 When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the timing of 

the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and any unused 
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deducible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:
•	 When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor taxable profit or loss

•	 In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 
arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse 
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax 
assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised 
in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities 
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Tax consolidation legislation
Dusk Group Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 
23 February 2015.

The head entity, Dusk Group Limited and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own 
current and deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the Group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of 
current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the consolidated head company also recognises the current tax liabilities 
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the 
tax consolidated group.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable 
from or payable to other entities in the Group.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised 
as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.

Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except:
•	 When the GST incurred on a sale or purchase of assets or services is not payable to a recoverable from the taxation authority, 

in which case the GST is recognised as part of the revenue or the expense item or as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
as applicable

•	 When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

Cash flows are included in the consolidated statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as part of 
operating cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprises cash at bank and on hand.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, as defined above.
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Trade receivables and other financial assets
A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage of time is required 
before payment of the consideration is due). Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that 
is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the 
trade and other receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses (ECLs). Therefore, the Group 
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.

The Group uses the foreign exchange contracts in forecast transactions and groups commitments to minimise its foreign currency 
risk. These are measured at fair value through profit or loss, and are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as 
financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. They are presented as current assets or liabilities if they are expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Right of return assets
Right of return assets represents the right to recover inventory sold to customers and is based on an estimate of customers who 
may exercise their right to return the goods and claim a refund. Such rights are measured at the value at which the inventory was 
previously carried prior to sale, less expected recovery costs and any impairment.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for, as follows:
•	 Finished goods: cost of product, freight, warehousing, duties and other customs charges

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, 
if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment if the recognition criteria are met. When significant 
parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group depreciates them separately based on their specific 
useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment 
as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment (excluding 
land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Fixed asset class	 Useful life
Computer equipment	 3 years
Plant and other equipment	 5 to 8 years
Shop fixtures and fittings	 Over lease term

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the 
date the seller loses control) or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year 
end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development 
costs, are not capitalised and the related expenditure is reflected in the profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset 
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates and adjusted on a prospective basis. The amortisation 
expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either individually or at the 
CGU level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. 
If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date the seller loses control) or losses when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

Computer software
The Group records direct costs associated with the development of computer software for external direct costs of materials and 
services consumed. Computer software has been determined to have a finite life, and is amortised on a straight-line basis over its 
useful life, as follows:
•	 Computer software 3 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for leases of low-value assets. The Group 
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available 
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs 
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term, as follows:
•	 Property and storage licences 5 to 7 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase 
option, depredation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies ‘Impairment of non-financial assets’.
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Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to 
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual 
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the 
Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce 
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount 
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes 
to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the 
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of property and storage licenses that are considered 
to be low value. Lease payments on leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
However, the Group has not elected to use the short-term lease recognition exemption to its leases of property and storage licenses 
(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).

As an impact of COVID-19, the Group has negotiated with its landlord to achieve rent concessions. The rent concessions reflect credits 
received from landlords on contracted lease costs under the practical expedients of AASB 16 Leases.

Impairment of goodwill
The Group assesses at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or 
when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGUs fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to its recoverable amount. The CGU for goodwill is assessed at a consolidated Group level, in line with the one 
operating segment used in Group reporting.

In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples and other available 
fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations. These budgets and forecast calculations 
generally cover a period of five years. The Group utilises the ‘multiple EBITDA’ approach when calculating the terminal value.

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. 
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated 
as a revaluation increase.
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Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and due to their short-term nature they are not discounted. They represent 
liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when 
the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30-60 days of recognition.

Provisions and employee benefit liabilities

General
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as a finance cost.

Refund liabilities
A provision has been made for the Group’s obligation to return to customers the consideration paid for the product. The provision is 
calculated using the historical run-rate data.

Voucher liabilities
A provision has been made for the expected redemption value of vouchers available under the Group’s loyalty card program.

Make good provisions
A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs of future restoration of leased premises. The provision includes 
future cost estimates associated with returning the premises to its original condition.

Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave, which are expected to be settled within 
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured 
at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long service leave
The Group does not expect its entire long service leave benefits to be settled wholly within 12 months of each reporting date. 
The Group recognises a liability for long service leave measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments 
are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Employee accruals
As the Group utilises a retail year end format of financial reporting, the need to accrue for unpaid or paid in advance retail wages 
can occur from year to year. In the current financial year, the Group has completed this assessment. This calculation incorporates 
the various retail award rates and penalty rates across each Australian state jurisdiction, including significant timesheet data for retail 
staff and estimates at year end of time worked, mandatory break periods and other award conditions.
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Share-based payments
Directors and other key management personnel of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby 
employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions).

Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an appropriate 
valuation model, further details of which are given in note 39.

That cost is recognised in employee benefits expense (note 7), together with a corresponding increase in equity (other capital 
reserves), over the period in which the service and, where applicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent 
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 
The expense or credit in the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at 
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, 
but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Groups best estimate of the number of equity instruments 
that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached 
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions 
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or 
performance conditions.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have 
not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vested irrespective of 
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the grant date fair value of the 
unmodified award, provided the original vesting terms of the award are met. An additional expense, measured as at the date of 
modification, is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is 
otherwise beneficial to the employee. Where an award is cancelled by the entity or by the counterparty, any remaining element of 
the fair value of the award is expensed immediately through the profit or loss.

Issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, options or performance 
rights are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Share, option or performance right buy-backs must be deducted from equity and that no gain or loss shall be recognised on the 
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of such shares, options or performance rights.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit after tax attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit after tax attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the number of ordinary shares that would be issued 
on conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the changes in presentation in the current year.

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, have not 
been early adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 2 July 2023. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these 
new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations, most relevant to the Group, are set out below.

AASB 2021-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 
from a Single Transaction
An amendment to IAS 12 Accounting for Income Taxes (the IFRS-equivalent of AASB 112 Accounting for Income Taxes) has been 
published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), with an effective date of 1 January 2023 and early application 
permitted.

The amendments clarify that companies must account for deferred tax assets and liabilities on initial recognition of certain 
transactions, such as the recognition of a lease liability (and corresponding right-of-use asset) under IFRS 16 Leases, or of 
decommissioning provisions (and corresponding increase in asset value).

The amendments are applicable to the Group from 1 July 2023. The impact of the amendments on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group is unknown and inestimable at this stage.

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

AASB 2020-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
– Deferral of Effective Date
AASB 2020-1 amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and require a liability to be classified as current when entities do 
not have a substantive right to defer settlements at the end of the reporting period for at least 12 months.

This may affect the classification of some liabilities between current and non-current. The new guidance will be effective for annual 
periods starting on or after 1 January 2023. Earlier application is permitted.

The amendments are applicable to the Group from 1 July 2023. The impact of the amendments on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group is unknown and inestimable at this stage.

AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of Accounting Policies and Definition of 
Accounting Estimates
This Standard makes amendments to the following Australian Accounting Standards:

a.	 AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (August 2015);
b.	 AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (July 2015);
c.	 AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (August 2015); and
d.	 AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting (August 2015).

The Standard also makes amendments to AASB Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (December 2017).
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This Standard amends:
•	 AASB 7, to clarify that information about measurement bases for financial instruments is expected to be material to an entity’s 

financial statements;
•	 AASB 101, to require entities to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting policies;
•	 AASB 108, to clarify how entities should distinguish changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates;
•	 AASB 134, to identify material accounting policy information as a component of a complete set of financial statements; and
•	 AASB Practice Statement 2, to provide guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

This Standard applies to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The amendments to individual Standards may be 
applied early, separately from the amendments to the other Standards, where feasible.

The amendments are applicable to the Group from 1 July 2023. The impact of the amendments on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group is unknown and inestimable at this stage.

Note 3.  Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, 
are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial 
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to 
market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions 
when they occur.

Impairment of non-financial assets
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on discounted cash flows 
incorporating known strategies that are reasonable for a market participant to assume or observable market prices less incremental 
costs for disposing of the asset.

Loyalty program membership
The dusk Rewards membership fee is recognised as revenue over the term of membership. Management recognise a proportion up-
front at the point of sale and an amount is deferred based on the average discount provided per member store visit and historical 
data regarding the number of visits, transactions and average transaction value. The revenue deferred is then recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the remaining 24 month membership period.

Make good provisions
The calculation of this provision requires assumptions such as expected lease expiry dates and cost estimates. These uncertainties 
may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. The provision recognised for each leased 
premises is periodically reviewed and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. Changes to the 
estimated future costs for sites are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position by adjusting both the expense or 
asset (if applicable) and provision.
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Long service leave provision
As discussed in note 2 ‘Provisions and employee benefit liabilities’, the liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the 
present value of the liability, attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.

Rights of return assets
Where a product is returned and is resalable, the return asset is recognised and measured using the historical run-rate data.

Voucher liabilities
This calculation is based on historical data as to the percentage of people that will redeem their two separate loyalty program 
vouchers, the $10 joining voucher and $20 birthday voucher, within the specified 30 day time period. 

Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to 
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a 
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. 
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available 
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and 
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using 
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity specific estimates (such as the 
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Employee equity incentive plan
The fair value of options and performance rights granted under the plan is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The total value to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options and 
performance rights granted measured at the grant date, which includes any market performance conditions and also the probability 
of meeting any service conditions. The valuation takes into account the exercise price of the option and performance right, the life of 
the option and performance right, the current price of the underlying shares, the expected volatility of the share price, the dividends 
of the shares, and the risk free interest rate for the life of the option and performance right.

Inventory
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Weighted average cost is used to value inventory. Costs incurred 
to bring each product to store include purchase price plus freight, cartage, and import duties. Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business. Management has assessed the value of inventory that is likely to be sold below cost 
and recorded a provision for this amount.

Reclassification of prior year financial information
The Group has reclassified the costs of distribution and handling activities directly relating to the Group’s performance obligation 
to deliver goods to the customer, within Cost of sales instead of within Other expenses. Prior year comparatives have also been 
reclassified. The amount of the reclassification was $2.509 million in 2023 (2022: $2.853 million).

These reclassifications have not resulted in a change to Net profit after tax, as well as no change to the Consolidated Statement 
of Other Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.
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Note 4.  Revenue from contracts with customers
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Sale of goods 134,481 135,410 

Loyalty program membership 3,142 2,983 

Total revenue from contracts with customers 137,623 138,393 

Disaggregation of revenue

Store revenue 130,141 126,843 

Online revenue 7,482 11,550 

137,623 138,393 

a.	 Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations are summarised below:

Sale of goods
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods and payment is generally received at point of sale or the 
placement of an online order.

Loyalty Program Membership – dusk Rewards
The performance obligation is satisfied upon the customer receiving the benefits of membership.

Note 5.  Other income
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Rental concessions receivedi 291 445 

Recoveries 28 100 

Gain on financial derivative 271 – 

NSW JobSaver receipts – 1,050 

Other income 590 1,595 

i.	 As an impact of COVID-19, the Group negotiated with its landlords to achieve rent concessions. The rent concessions reflect credits received from landlords on contracted lease costs 
under the practical expedients of AASB 16 Leases.

Note 6.  Finance income
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Interest income 378 – 
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Note 7.  Expenses
Profit before income tax from continuing operations includes the following specific expenses:

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

(restated)

Cost of sales

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 40,108 37,319 

Freight expenses 6,322 6,315 

Warehouse expenses 2,509 2,853

Other expenses 913 1,025 

49,852 47,512 

Employee benefit expense

Wages and salaries 34,752 30,303 

Defined contribution superannuation expense 3,148 2,767 

Share-based payment expense (note 39) (70) 220 

37,830 33,290 

Other expenses

Professional fees 1,574 1,386 

Storage fees 1,247 1,285 

Postage and stationery 266 219 

Bank and merchant fees 1,332 1,192 

Other 3,475 2,547 

Loss on financial derivative 25 11 

7,919 6,640 

Finance costs

Interest 162 73 

Interest on lease liabilities 1,619 1,414 

1,781 1,487 
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Note 8.  Income tax expense
The major components of income tax expense are:

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

Income tax expense

Current tax 4,078 8,162 

Deferred tax – origination and reversal of temporary differences 951 389 

Others (2) (551)

Aggregate income tax expense 5,027 8,000 

Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease in deferred tax assets (note 16) 951 389 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate

Profit before income tax expense 16,614 26,482 

Tax at the Australian statutory tax rate of 30% 4,984 7,945 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Non-deductible expenses 21 73 

Other 22 (18)

Income tax expense 5,027 8,000 

Note 9.  Cash and cash equivalents
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Current assets

Cash on hand 84 78 

Cash at bank 15,922 21,200 

16,006 21,278 

Note 10.  Trade receivables and other financial assets
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Current assets

Trade receivables 384 241 

Financial derivativesi – 128 

384 369 

i.	 Financial Derivatives are foreign exchange contracts that the group enters with the banking institutions and are measured at fair value through Profit and Loss. The Group uses the 
foreign exchange contracts in forecast transactions and groups commitments to minimise its foreign currency risk. Foreign exchange forward contracts are valued using valuation 
techniques, which employ the use of market observable inputs (Level 2).
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Note 11.  Inventories
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Current assets

Finished goods 11,751 13,640 

Goods in transit 3,421 1,775 

Inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value 15,172 15,415 

During 2023, $18,018 (2022: $14,920) was recognised as an expense for inventories carried at net realisable value. This is recognised 
in cost of sales.

Note 12.  Current tax assets

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

Current assets

Income tax receivable 4,250 – 

Note 13.  Property, plant and equipment
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment – at cost 788 760 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (581) (540)

207 220 

Shop fixtures and fittings – at cost 31,758 28,523 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (20,908) (18,096)

10,850 10,427 

Computer equipment – at cost 1,621 1,462 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,301) (1,030)

320 432 

11,377 11,079 
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Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Plant and 
equipment

$’000

Shop fixtures 
and fittings

$’000

Computer 
equipment

$’000
Total

$’000

Balance at 27 June 2021 198 8,588 406 9,192

Additions 44 4,350 313 4,707

Make good increments 53 295 – 348

Disposals (3) (4) (12) (19)

Depreciation expense (72) (2,802) (275) (3,149)

Balance at 3 July 2022 220 10,427 432 11,079

Additions 28 3,466 162 3,656

Make good increments 17 249 – 266

Disposals – (37) – (37)

Depreciation expense (58) (3,255) (274) (3,587)

Balance at 2 July 2023 207 10,850 320 11,377

Note 14.  Right-of-use assets
The Group has lease contracts for various items of property and storage licenses which makes up its operations. Leases of property 
and storage licenses generally have lease terms between 5 and 7 years. 

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

Non-current assets

Right-of-use assets 32,776 29,175 

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Property
$’000

 Storage  
licences

$’000
Total

$’000

Balance at 27 June 2021 28,355 96 28,451

Additions 14,864 209 15,073

Depreciation expense (14,302) (47) (14,349)

Balance at 3 July 2022 28,917 258 29,175

Additions 18,732 9 18,741

Depreciation expense (15,058) (82) (15,140)

Balance at 2 July 2023 32,591 185 32,776
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Note 15.  Intangible assets

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

Non-current assets

Goodwill – at cost 1,687 1,687 

Computer software – at cost 1,360 1,085 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (879) (585)

481 500 

2,168 2,187 

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Computer 
software

$’000
Goodwill

$’000
Total

$’000

Balance at 27 June 2021 103 1,687 1,790

Additions 575 – 575

Amortisation expense (178) – (178)

Balance at 3 July 2022 500 1,687 2,187

Additions 275 – 275

Amortisation expense (294) – (294)

Balance at 2 July 2023 481 1,687 2,168

For the purposes of impairment testing dusk group is a single cash generating unit (CGU) and consequently the whole goodwill 
balance has been allocated to this CGU. The recoverable amount of the CGU is based on its value in use determined by discounting 
the future cash flows expected to be generated by the continued use of this CGU. The long-term growth rate assumed in determining 
the value in use was 3.5% (2022: 3%). The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) used in the model was 15% (2022: 15%). No 
impairment losses have been recognised and it would require significant adverse change in these assumptions to impact the 
assessment that the recoverable amount of the CGU exceeds its carrying amount and such change is not expected.
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Note 16.  Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax relates to the following:

Consolidated statement  
of financial position

Consolidated statement  
of profit or loss

2023
$’000

2022
$’000

2023
$’000

2022
$’000

Provisions 1,023 973 50 209

Inventories 232 426 (194) 151

Accrued expenses 277 236 41 (305)

Refund liabilities 636 620 16 (85)

Refund assets (50) (113) 63 12

Voucher liabilities 53 57 (4) (11)

Net right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 2,030 1,899 131 255

Other 1,571 2,625 (1,054) (615)

5,772 6,723 (951) (389)

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

Deferred tax assets 5,772 6,723 

Movements:

Opening balance 6,723 7,112 

Charged to profit or loss (note 8) (951) (389)

Closing balance 5,772 6,723 

The Group has tax losses that arose in New Zealand that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Note 17.  Trade payables and other financial liabilities
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Current liabilities

Trade payables 3,785 5,555 

Accrued expense 2,063 1,966 

Other payables 536 715 

Contract liabilities 1,218 981 

Financial derivatives 25 – 

7,627 9,217 

Non-current liabilities

Contract liabilities 352 303 
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Note 18.  Provisions
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Current liabilities

Make good provision 504 301 

Refund liabilities 1,036 2,068 

Voucher liabilities 173 190 

Other provisions 66 191 

1,779 2,750 

Non-current liabilities

Make good provision 1,243 1,225 

Other provisions 75 119 

1,318 1,344 

Movements in provisions
Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

2023

Refund  
liabilities

$’000

Voucher 
liabilities 

$’000

Make good 
provision 

$’000

Other  
provisions 

$’000
Total  

$’000

Carrying amount at 3 July 2022 2,068 190 1,526 310 4,094

Arising during the year 1,430 169 255 – 1,854

Utilised (2,462) (186) (34) (169) (2,851)

Carrying amount at 2 July 2023 1,036 173 1,747 141 3,097

Note 19.  Employee benefit liabilities
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Current liabilities

Annual leave 1,140 1,126 

Long service leave 432 372 

1,572 1,498 

Non-current liabilities

Long service leave 571 475 
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Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months
The current provision for employee benefits includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the required 
period of service and also those where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The entire amount is 
presented as current, since the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement.

The following amounts reflect leave that is not expected to be taken within the next 12 months:

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

Employee benefits obligation expected to be settled after 12 months 741 667 

Note 20.  Lease liabilities
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Current liabilities

Lease liabilities 13,821 14,263 

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 25,743 21,243 

Lease liabilities 
$’000

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:

As at 27 June 2021 33,930

Additions 16,385

Accretion of interest 1,414

Payments in accordance with lease agreements (16,223)

As at 3 July 2022 35,506

As at 3 July 2022 35,506

Additions 19,990

Accretion of interest 1,619

Payments in accordance with lease agreements (17,551)

As at 2 July 2023 39,564

Annual Report 2023 59



Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Rental concessions received (291) (445)

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 15,140 14,349 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,619 1,414 

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (included in administrative expenses) 9 28 

Expenses relating to variable and holdover lease payments 2,771 2,653 

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 19,248 17,999 

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of $17,560,764 in 2023 (2022: $16,251,000). The Group also had non-cash additions to 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of $19,990,656 in 2023 (2022: $16,385,000).

The Group’s payment of the principal portions of its lease liabilities for the year then ended was $15,932,834 (2022: $14,809,000) and 
interest paid on lease liabilities totalled $1,618,578 (2022: $1,414,000).

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s lease liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments:

Less than  
3 months

$000

3 to 12  
months

$000

1 to 5  
years
$000

> 5 years
$000

Total
$000

Year ended 3 July 2022

Lease liabilities 4,012 10,251 24,176 195 38,634

Year ended 2 July 2023

Lease liabilities 4,161 11,122 27,740 61 43,084

Note 21.  Current tax liabilities
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Income tax payable – 719 

Note 22.  Issued capital
2023

Shares
2022 

Shares
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Ordinary shares – fully paid 62,267,865 62,267,865 3,487 3,487 

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in proportion to 
the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not 
have a limited amount of authorised capital.

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share 
shall have one vote.
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Capital Management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as total 
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen as value adding relative to 
the current company’s share price at the time of the investment.

The Group is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these is given priority in all capital risk management 
decisions. There have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the financial year.

Note 23.  Other capital reserves
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Foreign currency translation reserve (31) – 

Share-based payments reserve (3,192) (3,122)

(3,223) (3,122)

Movements in reserves
Movements in reserves during the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Share-based 
reserve

$’000

Foreign currency 
translation 

reserve
$’000

Total
$’000

Balance at 27 June 2021 (3,342) – (3,342)

Share-based payments 220 – 220

Balance at 3 July 2022 (3,122) – (3,122)

Foreign currency translation – (31) (31)

Share-based payments (70) – (70)

Balance at 2 July 2023 (3,192) (31) (3,223)

Nature and purpose of reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve
The reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations to 
Australian dollars.

Share-based reserve
During the 2016 financial year, the Directors of Dusk Group Limited issued 7,000,000 options to the Chair and CEO (3,500,000 each). 
Option holders were entitled to the issue of one ordinary share in the share capital of Dusk Group Limited for each option. Both 
individuals remain in their position as at 2 July 2023. Whilst 4,550,000 options had been exercised in the 2021 financial year, the 
remaining 2,450,000 unissued ordinary shares under options were bought back for $5,057,385 by way of a cash payment in the 
2021 financial year.

Annual Report 2023 61



Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

During the financial year, the Group has issued 517,707 performance rights pursuant to the equity incentive plan as disclosed in 
section 6.3.4.2 of the Prospectus. 1,150,000 options and 204,608 performance rights have lapsed due to conditions becoming 
incapable of being satisfied. No other securities have been exercised, granted or forfeited.

Note 24.  Dividends
Dividends on ordinary shares declared and paid:

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

Final dividend for 27 June 2021 was paid on 24 September 2021: 10 cents per share – 6,227 

Interim dividend for 3 July 2022 was paid on 28 March 2022: 10 cents per share – 6,227 

Final dividend for 3 July 2022 was paid on 27 September 2022: 10 cents per share 6,227 – 

Interim dividend for 2 July 2023 was paid on 28 March 2023: 8 cents per share 4,981 – 

11,208 12,454 

Franking credit balance
The amount of franking credit available for the subsequent financial year are:

Franking account balance as at the end of the financial period at 30% (3 July 2022: 30%) 16,366 12,123 

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:
•	 franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax at the reporting date
•	 franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date
•	 franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date

Note 25.  Financial risk management
The Group’s exposure to market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk, and the policies in place to address these risks are disclosed below.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. The Group’s exposure to market risk is limited to interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.

i.	 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is through its significant cash holdings and is considered immaterial due to 
current interest rates. The Group maintains a finance facility with a major Australian banking institution, however these facilities are 
undrawn at year end and no interest rate risk exists thereon.

ii.	 Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating 
activities (when expenses and inventory purchases is denominated in a foreign currency). Currencies utilised in relation to purchase 
imported goods are US dollars and Chinese Renminbi. Commercial forward exchange hedges are taken against purchases, 
however hedge accounting is not applied by the Group.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is monitored and managed within the parameters of the Group’s foreign exchange policy.
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a 
financial loss. As a retailer where all revenue receipts are in the form of immediate cash, electronic funds transfer, credit card and/or 
buy now pay later providers, the Group is not exposed to a material level of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Group and the Group’s subsequent ability to meet their obligations to repay 
their financial liabilities as and when they fall due.

The Group monitors its risk of a shortage of funds by performing a liquidity planning analysis. Given the Group’s current cash reserves 
and cash flows from operations, the Group is not exposed to a significant level of liquidity risk.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, bank 
facilities and lease contracts.

Financing arrangements
Borrowing facilities at the reporting date:

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

Overdraft facility 5,570 5,570 

Corporate credit card facility 300 300 

Bank guarantee facility 130 130 

6,000 6,000 

The banking facilities may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice. There is one bank guarantee 
outstanding under this facility and the overdraft facility is otherwise undrawn. This was also the case in FY22.

Remaining contractual maturities
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial liabilities 
are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and 
therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position.

2023

Weighted 
average  

interest rate
%

Less than  
3 months

$’000

3 to 12  
months

$’000

1 to 5  
years
$’000

Over  
5 years

$’000

Remaining 
contractual 

maturities
$’000

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade and other payables – 7,627 – 352 – 7,979

Interest-bearing – fixed rate

Lease liability 5.00% 4,161 11,122 27,740 61 43,084

Total non-derivatives 11,788 11,122 28,092 61 51,063
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2022

Weighted 
average  

interest rate
%

Less than  
3 months

$’000
3 to 12 months

$’000
1 to 5 years

$’000
Over 5 years

$’000

Remaining 
contractual 

maturities
$’000

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade and other payables – 9,217 – 303 – 9,520

Interest-bearing – fixed rate

Lease liability 4.00% 4,012 10,251 24,176 195 38,634

Total non-derivatives 13,229 10,251 24,479 195 48,154

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed above.

Excessive risk concentration
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same 
geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected 
by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to 
developments affecting a particular industry.

As a retailer, the Group avoids excessive concentrations of risk, and the Group’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines to 
focus on the maintenance of a diversified product portfolio. Identified concentrations are controlled and managed accordingly.

Other risks
The Group’s operating activities require a continuous supply of finished goods. The majority of finished goods are imported 
from suppliers in China. The Group is exposed to the risk of not being able to receive their finished goods as a result of supplier 
manufacturing restrictions (e.g. due to factory shutdowns, the COVID-19 pandemic, Chinese New Year, etc.) or restrictions on delivery 
of finished goods (e.g. due to local travel restrictions).

The CODM monitor this risk on an ongoing basis and develop and implement policies based on the level of risk at any point in time.

Note 26.  Key management personnel disclosures

Compensation
The aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of key management personnel of the Group is set out below:

2023
$

2022 
$

Short-term employee benefits 1,246,580 1,240,223 

Post-employment pensions and medical benefits 109,253 115,341 

Share-based payment transactions (82,268) 146,199 

1,273,565 1,501,763 

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting period related to key 
management personnel.

There are no other transactions with the key management personnel during the year (2022: $nil).
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Note 27.  Remuneration of auditors
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Ernst & Young (Australia), the auditor of the 
Company, its network firms and unrelated firms:

2023
$

2022 
$

Audit services – Ernst & Young (Australia)

Fees for auditing the statutory financial report of the Company and its controlled entities 252,200 253,800

Fees for other assurance and agreed-upon-procedures services under other legislation or 
contractual arrangements where there is discretion as to whether the service is provided by 
the auditor or another firm 15,000 130,000

267,200 383,800

Other services – Ernst & Young (Australia)

Preparation of the tax return 14,000 12,000

JobSaver payment claim – 8,000

14,000 20,000

Other services – Other member firms

NZ Tax advisory services 29,900 20,100

311,100 423,900

Note 28.  Commitments
There are no commitments as at the reporting date which would have a material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements as at 2 July 2023 (2022: none).

Note 29.  Contingencies
Contingent liabilities held by the Parent entity are disclosed in note 31.

The Group did not have any other contingent liabilities as at 2 July 2023 (2022: none).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

Note 30.  Related party transactions

Parent entity
Dusk Group Limited is the parent entity.

Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 26 and the remuneration report included in the Directors’ report.

Transactions with related parties
2023

$
2022 

$

KMP compensation paid through related companies 32,083 77,000

The Director fees for Trent Peterson were paid to Catalyst Investment Managers Pty Ltd up to 30 November 2022. From 1 December 
2022 Catalyst ceased being a related party. 

Loans to/from related parties
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

Note 31.  Parent entity information
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

Statement of financial position
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Assets

Current assets – – 

Non-current assets 23,000 23,000 

Total Assets 23,000 23,000 

Liabilities

Current liabilities – – 

Non-current liabilities – – 

Total Liabilities – – 

Equity

Issued capital 23,000 23,000 

Retained earnings – – 

Total Equity 23,000 23,000 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Profit after income tax – – 

Total comprehensive income – – 
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Contractual commitments
The parent entity did not have any contractual commitments as at 2 July 2023 (2022: none).

For the year ended 2 July 2023, the Parent has $130,000 (2022: $130,000) of bank guarantees.

Contingent liabilities
The Parent is a guarantor on the Commonwealth Bank of Australia banking facilities held by Dusk Australasia Pty Ltd.
•	 Pursuant to ASIC Corporations (Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785, Dusk Group Limited have entered into a deed of 

cross guarantee on 9 June 2016. The effect of the deed is that Dusk Group Limited has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event 
of winding up of any controlled entity or if they do not meet their obligations under the terms of overdrafts, loans, leases or other 
liabilities subject to the guarantee. The controlled entities have also given a similar guarantee in the event that Dusk Group Limited is 
wound up or if it does not meet its obligations under the terms of overdrafts, loans, leases or other liabilities subject to the guarantee.

The parent entity did not have any other contingent liabilities as at 2 July 2023 (2022: none).

Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in note 2, except for investments in 
subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.

Note 32.  Interests in subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with 
the accounting policy described in note 2:

Percentage Owned

Name Principal place of business/Principal activities
2023

%
2022 

%

Dusk Australasia Pty Ltd Australia/Retailing of scented and unscented candies, 
home decor, home fragrance and gift solutions

100% 100% 

Dusk Wholesale and Imports Pty Ltd Australia/Dormant 100% 100% 

Dusk Europe Pty Ltd Australia/Dormant 100% 100% 

Dusk New Zealand Limited New Zealand/ Retailing of scented and unscented 
candles, home decor, home fragrance and gift solutions

100% 100% 

All subsidiaries listed, are party to the Deed of cross guarantee as described in note 33.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

Note 33.  Deed of cross guarantee
The following entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the others:
•	 Dusk Group Limited
•	 Dusk Australasia Pty Ltd
•	 Dusk Wholesale and Imports Pty Ltd
•	 Dusk Europe Pty Ltd
•	 Dusk New Zealand Limited (party to a deed of cross guarantee since 25 May 2023)

By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare financial statements and 
Directors’ report under Corporations Instrument 2016/785 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

Set out below is a consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of financial position of the 
‘Closed Group’. As the Closed Group contains all the members of the consolidated group the financial statements presented below 
are identical to the primary financial statements presented for the consolidated group.

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Revenue from contracts with customers 137,623 138,393

Cost of sales (49,852) (47,512)

Other income 590 1,595

Asset, property and maintenance expenses (243) (202)

Occupancy expenses (2,772) (2,652)

Advertising expenses (2,559) (2,990)

Employee benefits expense (37,830) (33,290)

Acquisition costs (Eroma transaction terminated) – (1,057)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (19,021) (17,676)

Other expenses (7,919) (6,640)

Finance costs (1,781) (1,487)

Finance income 378 –

Profit before income tax expense 16,614 26,482

Income tax expense (5,027) (8,000)

Profit after income tax expense 11,587 18,482

Other comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation (31) –

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (31) –

Total comprehensive income for the year 11,556 18,482

Equity – retained profits
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 36,098 30,070

Profit after income tax expense 11,587 18,482

Dividends paid (11,208) (12,454)

Retained profits at the end of the financial year 36,477 36,098
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Statement of financial position
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16,006 21,278

Trade receivables and other financial assets 384 369

Inventories 15,172 15,415

Right-of-use assets 168 375

Prepayments 1,451 1,674

Current tax assets 4,250 –

37,431 39,111

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 11,377 11,079

Right-of-use assets 32,776 29,175

Intangible assets 2,168 2,187

Deferred tax assets 5,772 6,723

52,093 49,164

Total assets 89,524 88,275

Current liabilities

Trade payables and other financial liabilities 7,627 9,217

Provisions 1,779 2,750

Employee benefit liabilities 1,572 1,498

Lease liabilities 13,821 14,263

Current tax liabilities – 719

24,799 28,447

Non-current liabilities

Trade payables and other financial liabilities 352 303

Provisions 1,318 1,344

Employee benefit liabilities 571 475

Lease liabilities 25,743 21,243

27,984 23,365

Total liabilities 52,783 51,812

Net assets 36,741 36,463

Equity

Issued capital 3,487 3,487

Other capital reserves (3,223) (3,122)

Retained profits 36,477 36,098

Total equity 36,741 36,463
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

Note 34.  Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash from operating activities
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Profit after income tax expense for the year 11,587 18,482 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,587 3,149 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15,140 14,349 

Amortisation of intangible assets 294 178 

Share-based payment expense (70) 220 

(Gain)/loss on financial derivative (246) 11 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 37 8 

Foreign exchange differences (31) – 

Changes in assets and liabilities:

– decrease/(increase) in trade receivables and other financial assets 80 (371)

– decrease/(increase) in inventories 243 (991)

– decrease in deferred tax asset 951 389 

– decrease in right of return assets 207 41 

– increase in income taxes receivable (4,250) – 

– (decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (317) 2,177 

– decrease in provisions (1,263) (212)

– increase in employee benefits 170 363 

– decrease in income taxes payable (719) (5,384)

Net cash from operating activities 25,400 32,409 

Note 35.  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
Cash flow from financing activities during the year were in relation to movements in lease liabilities. The movements in lease liabilities 
are disclosed in note 20.

Note 36.  Non-cash investing and financing activities
2023

$’000
2022 

$’000

Additions to the right-of-use assets 18,741 15,073 

Note 37.  Events after the reporting period
On 29 August 2023, the Directors declared a final dividend on ordinary shares in respect of the 2023 financial year. The total amount 
of the dividend is $1.868 million which represents a fully franked dividend of 3 cents per share. The dividend has not been provided 
for in the 2 July 2023 financial statements.

Other than the above, no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future 
financial years.
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Note 38.  Earnings per share
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the 
dilutive potential ordinary shares. In accordance with AASB133, Earnings per share, some options and performance rights that could 
potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future have not been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share shown 
below because they are antidilutive for the periods presented.

The following table reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations:

2023
$’000

2022 
$’000

Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of Dusk Group Limited 11,587 18,482 

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share 62,267,865 62,267,865

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:

Share options and performance rights 313,099 1,000,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share 62,580,964 63,267,865

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 18.6 29.7

Diluted earnings per share 18.5 29.2

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the 
date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements.

Note 39.  Share-based payments

FY23 Long Term Incentive Plan
Under the FY23 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTI) performance rights of the parent are granted to senior executives of dusk. The exercise 
price of the performance rights is nil. The performance rights vest if, and when, the companies Total Shareholder Return hurdle 
and Earnings Per Share hurdle are satisfied (refer Remuneration report) and the senior executive remains employed on such date. 
The performance rights granted will not vest if the performance conditions are not met. The fair value of the performance rights is 
estimated at the grant date using both a Monte Carlo and Black Scholes pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
on which the performance rights were granted. The rights performance test date is 1 September 2025 (assuming FY25 results are 
released on 1 September 2025). The rights will either vest and be exercised on this date, or lapse.

FY22 Long Term Incentive Plan
Under the FY22 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTI) share options of the parent are granted to senior executives of dusk. The exercise 
price of the options is equal to the listing price. The share options vest if, and when, the companies Total Shareholder Return hurdle 
and Earnings Per Share hurdle are satisfied (refer Remuneration report) and the senior executive remains employed on such date. 
The share options granted will not vest if the performance conditions are not met. The fair value of the share options is estimated at 
the grant date using a binomial option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions on which the share options were 
granted. The share options can be exercised up to two years after the three year vesting period. The contractual term of each option 
granted is 5 years.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

FY21 Long Term Incentive Plan
Under the FY21 Long Term Incentive Plan (LTI) share options of the parent are granted to senior executives of dusk. The exercise 
price of the options is equal to the listing price. The share options vest if, and when, the companies Total Shareholder Return hurdle 
and Earnings Per Share hurdle are satisfied (refer Remuneration report) and the senior executive remains employed on such date. 
The share options granted will not vest if the performance conditions are not met. The fair value of the share options is estimated at 
the grant date using a binomial option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions on which the share options were 
granted. The share options can be exercised up to two years after the three year vesting period. The contractual term of each option 
granted is 5 years.

The expense recognised for employee services received during the year is shown in the following table:

2023
$

2022 
$

Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions (70,347) 220,144

Movements during the year
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options and 
performance rights during the year:

Number
2023

WAEP
2023

Number
2022

WAEP
2022

Outstanding at the beginning of the financial year 2,125,000 $2.59 1,000,000 $2.00 

Granted during the year 517,707 $0.00 1,125,000 $3.11 

Lapsed during the year (1,354,608) $2.17 – $0.00

Exercised during the year – $0.00 – $0.00

Bought back during the year – $0.00 – $0.00

Outstanding at the end of the financial year 1,288,099 $1.99 2,125,000 $2.59 

Exercisable at the end of the financial year – $0.00 – $0.00

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options and performance rights outstanding as at 2 July 2023 was 
0.82 years.

The weighted average fair value of options or performance rights granted during the year was $1.50 (2022: 68 cents).

The weighted average exercise price for options and performance rights outstanding at the end of the year was $1.99 (2022: $2.59).

The following tables list the inputs to the models used for the EIP for the year ended 2 July 2023:

2023

Weighted average fair values at the measurement date $1.50

Dividend yield 8%

Expected volatility 50%

Risk-free interest rate 3.20%

Expected life of share options 3 years

Weighted average share price $2.13

Model used Black–Scholes/ 
Monte Carlo

Dusk Group Limited72



The expected life of the share options and performance rights is based on historical data and current expectations and is not 
necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility 
over a period similar to the life of the options and performance rights is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the 
actual outcome.

Note 40.  Segment information
The Group is required to determine and present its operating segments based on the way in which financial information is organised 
and reported to the chief operating decision-makers (CODM). The CODM have been identified as the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the Group on the basis that they make the key operating decisions of the Group and are 
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance.

The Group has considered its internal reporting framework, management and operating structure and the Directors’ conclusion is 
that the Group has one operating segment being retail sales in the home fragrances and accessories category, operating in one 
geographical location, Australia.

Note 41.  Statutory information
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is:

Dusk Group Limited
Building 1, Level 3,
75 O’Riordan Street
Alexandria NSW 2015

Annual Report 2023 73



Directors’ declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Dusk Group Limited, we state that:

In the Directors’ opinion:

a.	 the consolidated financial statements and notes of Dusk Group Limited for the 52 weeks ended 2 July 2023 are in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including:
i. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 2 July 2023 and of its performance for the 52 weeks 

ended on that date, and
ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

b.	 the consolidated financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
note 2; and

c.	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors by the Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the 52 weeks ended 2 July 2023.

On behalf of the Directors

John Joyce
Executive Chair

28 September 2023
Sydney
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Independent auditor’s report

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislat ion

Ernst  & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au

Independent  auditor ’s report  to the members of dusk Group Limit ed

Report  on the audit  of the f inancial report

Opinion
We have audited the financial report of dusk Group Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(collect ively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial posit ion as at 2 July
2023 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement  of cash flows for 52 weeks then ended, notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declarat ion.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporat ions
Act 2001, including:

a. Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial posit ion of the Group as at 2 July 2023
and of its consolidated financial performance for 52 weeks ended on that  date; and

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporat ions Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit  in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilit ies for the audit  of the financial
report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor
independence requirements of the Corporat ions Act  2001 and the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that  are relevant to our audit  of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilit ies in accordance with
the Code.

We believe that the audit  evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key audit  mat ters
Key audit  matters are those matters that , in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit  of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit  of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilit ies described in the Auditor’s responsibilit ies for the audit  of the
financial report  section of our report, including in relat ion to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit  procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit  opinion on the
accompanying financial report.

Annual Report 2023 75



Independent auditor’s report continued

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislat ion

Inventory Valuat ion
Why signif icant How our audit  addressed the key audit  mat t er

At 2 July 2023 the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial posit ion includes inventories with a carrying value
of $15.2 million, represent ing 16.7% of total assets.
As detailed in Note 2 of the financial report, inventories are
valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of inventories includes components relat ing to the
cost of freight, certain warehousing costs, customs dut ies
and other charges. Judgement was involved in the process
of allocat ing these costs to inventories.
There is also judgement involved in estimating the value of
inventory which may be sold below cost and determining the
net realisable value of the inventory.  Such judgements
include expectat ions for future sales and inventory
clearance plans.

Our audit  procedures included the following:
 Assessed the applicat ion of the Group’s inventory

cost ing methodology specially in relat ion to f reight,
customs dut ies, and warehousing charges, and whether
this was consistent with Australian Account ing
Standards.

 Assessed the basis by which the Group determined that
inventory was recorded at the lower of cost and net
realisable value, including the rat ionale for recording
specific adjustments to value inventory below cost,
where required. In doing so, we examined sales margins
achieved, the Group’s process for ident ifying specif ic
slow-moving inventor ies, historical inventory turnover
and expected future sales.

 Considered the related financial report disclosures.

Informat ion other than the f inancial report  and auditor’s report  thereon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Company’s 2023 annual report, but does not include the financial report
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remunerat ion Report
and our related assurance opinion.

In connect ion with our audit  of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit  or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report  that fact. We have nothing to report  in this regard.

Responsibilit ies of the directors for the f inancial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparat ion of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporat ions Act 2001
and for such internal cont rol as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparat ion of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relat ing to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operat ions, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilit ies for the audit  of the f inancial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit  conducted in accordance with the Australian Audit ing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it  exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report .

As part of an audit  in accordance with the Australian Audit ing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment  and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit . We also:

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit  procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement result ing from fraud is higher than for one result ing from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intent ional omissions, misrepresentat ions, or the
override of internal control.

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit  in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not  for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effect iveness of the Group’s internal control.

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
est imates and related disclosures made by the directors.

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit  evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or condit ions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to cont inue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attent ion in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit  evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or condit ions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

► Evaluate the overall presentat ion, st ructure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that  achieves fair presentat ion.

► Obtain sufficient appropriate audit  evidence regarding the financial information of the ent it ies or
business act ivit ies within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are
responsible for the direct ion, supervision and performance of the Group audit . We remain solely
responsible for our audit  opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and t iming of
the audit  and significant audit  f indings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit .
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We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relat ionships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, act ions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit  of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulat ion precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that  a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communicat ion.

Report  on the audit  of the Remunerat ion Report

Opinion on the Remunerat ion Report
We have audited the Remunerat ion Report included in the directors’ report for the 52 weeks ended 2
July 2023.

In our opinion, the Remunerat ion Report of Dusk Group Limited for the 52 weeks ended 2 July 2023,
complies with sect ion 300A of the Corporat ions Act  2001.

Responsibilit ies
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparat ion and presentat ion of the
Remunerat ion Report in accordance with sect ion 300A of the Corporat ions Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remunerat ion Report, based on our audit  conducted in
accordance with Australian Audit ing Standards.

Ernst & Young

Lisa Nijssen-Smith
Partner
Sydney
28 September 2023

Independent auditor’s report continued
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Shareholder information

ASX Additional Information
Additional information required by the ASX Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set out below. This information is 
current as at 31 August 2023.

Substantial shareholders
There are no substantial shareholders and their associates. 

Voting rights
The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:

Ordinary shares
On a show of hands, every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall 
have one vote.

Options and Performance Rights
Options and performance rights do not carry a right to vote.

Distribution of equity security holders
Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:

Ordinary shares

Number  
of holders

% of total  
shares issued

1 – 1,000 2,317 1.77

1,001 – 5,000 1,679 6.98

5,001 – 10,000 539 6.62

10,001 – 100,000 561 24.78

100,000 and over 54 59.85

5,150 100.00

There were 493 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.
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Shareholder information continued

Equity security holders

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders
The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

Ordinary shares

Number  
held

% of total  
shares issued

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 4,507,689 7.24

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 3,912,208 6.28

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 2,942,699 4.73

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 2,800,000 4.50

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT DRP> 2,684,214 4.31

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <AGENCY LENDING DRP A/C> 2,381,643 3.82

JOHN JOYCE 2,335,000 3.75

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <GLOBAL MARKETS DRP> 2,195,282 3.53

PETER KING 2,160,059 3.47

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 2,012,044 3.23

DAVID MACLEAN INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <DAVID MACLEAN ARG RETAIL A/C> 949,227 1.52

DR PATRICK JOHN BOWDEN 443,221 0.71

ZACOB PTY LTD <R & M BIANCARDI ACCOUNT> 430,000 0.69

MR ANTHONY WHITE 397,165 0.64

ZACOB PTY LTD <R&L BIANCARDI SUPER FUND A/C> 310,000 0.50

MR RODNEY JOHN FORREST 307,003 0.49

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED – A/C 2 305,034 0.49

B & R JAMES INVESTMENTS PTY LIMITED <JAMES SUPERANNUATION A/C> 300,000 0.48

MR ROLAND ELMAR TOIME 300,000 0.48

TRENT PETERSON 278,500 0.45

31,950,988 51.31

Number  
on issue

Number  
of holders

Unquoted equity securities

Options over ordinary shares issued 975,000 3

Performance rights over ordinary shares issued 381,302 6
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Corporate information

Directors John Joyce
Trent Peterson
David MacLean
Tracy Mellor
Katherine Ostin
Peter King (resigned 19 July 2023)

Company Secretary Kate Sundquist

Registered office Building 1, Level 3,  
75 O’Riordan Street,  
Alexandria, NSW 2015

Principal place of business Building 1, Level 3,  
75 O’Riordan Street,  
Alexandria, NSW 2015

Auditor Ernst & Young (Australia)

Legal adviser Herbert Smith Freehills

Share register Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPO Box 2975
Melbourne, VIC 3001

Phone: 1300 850 505

Corporate websites dusk.com.au 
duskcandles.co.nz

Investor relations website investors.dusk.com.au
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